

LUND UNIVERSITY

Cell cycle perspectives on breast cancer cell behaviour

Berglund, Pontus

2008

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Berglund, P. (2008). Cell cycle perspectives on breast cancer cell behaviour. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Translational Medicine]. Lund University: Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 Department of Laboratory Medicine, Center for Molecular Pathology, Malmö University Hospital Lund University, Sweden

Cell cycle perspectives on breast cancer cell behaviour

Pontus Berglund



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

Academic dissertation

By due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden, to be defended at the main lecture hall, Pathology building, entrance 78, Malmö University Hospital, Malmö, on Wednesday 28th of May, 2008 at 13.00 for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, Faculty of Medicine.

Faculty opponent:

Associate Professor Dan Grandér, M.D. PhD Karolinska Institute, Department of Oncology&Pathology, Cancer Center Karolinska, Stockholm, Sweden

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION	
Center for Molecular Pathology University Hospital MAS Malmö	Date of issue May 28, 2008	
······································	Sponsoring organization	
Author(s)	-	
Pontus Berglund		
Title and subtitle		
Cell cycle perspectives on breast cancer cell behaviour		

Abstract

Uncontrolled proliferation and the capacity to infiltrate surrounding tissues are two important characteristics of aggressive tumour cells. Previous observations in both colorectal cancer and basal cell carcinoma indicated that infiltrative tumour cell behaviour might be counteracted by a high proliferative activity, suggesting a coordination of these two activities at the cellular level. Here we studied the potential relation between proliferative activity and migratory behaviour in breast cancer, by focusing on the cell cycle regulatory proteins cyclin E and cyclin D1.

By expressing cyclin E in a breast cancer cell line we obtained experimental results indicating that increased proliferative activity obstructed migratory and invasive capacity. When validating these results in a large set of primary breast cancers, we observed that increasing cyclin E levels correlated with a less infiltrative tumour growth appearance – a finding in line with our experimental results.

Several studies have proposed that cyclin E is strongly associated with poorer disease outcome in breast cancer. Therefore, we continued to investigate the potential prognostic relevance of the inverse relation between cyclin E and infiltrative tumour growth. We revealed a distinct subgroup of less infiltrative, cyclin E high breast cancers with a relatively favourable prognosis. This subgroup was an important exception compared to the majority of tumours where cyclin E indeed correlated to a poorer outcome.

Furthermore, we delineated in more detail, how the migratory capacities of tumour cells related to cell cycle activities. Synchronised G0/early G1 cells displayed an increased migratory potential compared to both late G1/S-phase cells as well as unsynchronised, actively cycling cells. In addition, silencing of cyclin D1 indicated a novel CDK- and cell cycle independent function of cyclin D1 in restraining migratory capacity. This novel role of cyclin D1 seemed to influence the behaviour of ER positive breast tumours, where cyclin D1 high tumours were in general of smaller size and, further, exhibited a somewhat less infiltrative growth pattern. In addition, increased cyclin D1 levels correlated to a more favourable prognosis.

Key words: cyclin E, cyclin D1, proliferation, migration, invasion, breast cancer

Classification system and/or index terms	es (if any):	
Supplementary bibliographical informat	ion:	Language English
ISSN and key title: 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-86059-11-
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 101	Price
	Security classification	

Distribution by (name and address) Pontus Berglund, Entrance 78, 2nd floor, UMAS, 20502 Malmö, Sweden I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

DOKUMENTDATABLAD enl SIS 61 41 21

Signature _____ Bay und

2008-04-15 Date Cell cycle perspectives on breast cancer cell behaviour

Pontus Berglund



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

Printed by Media Tryck AB, Lund Sweden ISBN 978-91-86059-11-8

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF PAPERS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	7
INTRODUCTION	8
The cell cycle	8
Overview	8
The G1- to S-phase progression	9
Cyclin D	10
Cyclin E	12
Upstream signalling networks involved in cell cycle regulation	14
The Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase (MAPK) pathway	14
The PI3K pathway	16
The Integrin-FAK pathway	16
The actin cytoskeleton and Rho GTPases	17
A cell cycle perspective on tumour cell behaviour	18
Tumour cell migration and invasion	19
Breast cancer	21
G1 cyclins in breast cancer	24
THE PRESENT INVESTIGATION	27
Aim	27
Results and Discussion	28
Conclusions	39
POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING	40
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	42
REFERENCES	44
PAPER I-III	

LIST OF PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their respective roman numerals.

- I Berglund P, Stighall M, Jirström K, Borgquist S, Sjölander A, Hedenfalk I, Landberg G. Cyclin E overexpression obstructs infiltrative behavior in breast cancer: a novel role reflected in the growth pattern of medullary breast cancer. *Cancer Research: 65 (21), 9727-9734 (2005).*
- Berglund P*, Stighall M*, Jirström K, Rydén L, Fernö M, Nordenskjöld B, Landberg G. Cyclin E confers a prognostic value in premenopausal breast cancer patients with tumours exhibiting an infiltrative growth pattern. *Journal of Clinical Pathology: 61, 184-191 (2008).*
- III Berglund P, Nilsson K, Lehn S, Tobin N, Härkönen P, Landberg G. The oncogene cyclin D1 inhibits migratory capacity in breast cancer and is linked to favourable prognostic features. *Manuscript*

* Authors contributed equally.

Reprints were made with permission from the publishers: Copyright © 2005. American Association for Cancer Research. Copyright © 2007. BMJ Publishing Group Ltd

ABBREVIATIONS

AP-1	Activating Protein-1	NFAT	Nuclear Factor of Activated T-cells	
BRCA1/2	Breast Cancer 1/2, early onset	NF κ B Nuclear Factor of kappa light		
Cdc6	Cell division cycle 6 homolog		polypeptide gene enhancer in B-	
CDK	Cyclin-Dependent Kinase		cells	
C/EBPβ	CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein	NHG	Nottingham Histological Grade	
	Beta	NPAT	Nuclear Protein, Ataxia- Telangiectasia locus	
Cip/Kip	CDK interacting protein/ Kinase inhibitory protein	MRCK	Myotonic dystrophy kinase-Related	
CREB	cAMP Responsive Element Binding Protein	PI3K	PhosphatidylInositol 3-Kinase	
DMP1	cyclin D-interacting Myb-like Protein 1 (alias DMTF1)	PKB/Akt	Protein Kinase B/v-akt murine thymoma viral oncogene homolog	
ECM	ExtraCellular Matrix	pRb	Retinoblastoma protein	
EGFP	Enhanced Green Fluorescence	PR	Progesterone Receptor	
	Protein	ROCK	Rho Kinase	
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor	SCF	Skp1-Cullin-F-box complex	
Egr-1	Early growth response -1	SP1	Specificity Protein 1 transcription	
ER	Estrogen Receptor		factor	
ERK	Extracellular-signal-Regulated protein Kinase	STAT	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription	
FAK	Focal Adhesion Kinase			
FISH	Fluorescence In Situ Hybridisation			
GSK3β	Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 β			
GTPase	Guanine-Tri-Phosphatase			
HDAC	Histone Deacetylase			
HER	Human Epidermal growth factor Receptor			
HiNF-P	Histone Nuclear Factor - P			
INK4	Inhibitor of cyclin dependent Kinase 4			
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal Kinase			
KLF8	Kruppel-Like Factor 8			
MAPK	Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase			
МСМ	Mini-Chromosome Maintenance			
MEF	Mouse Embryo Fibroblast			
MEK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase/ Extracellular signal-regulated kinase Kinase			
MMP	Matrix MetalloProtease			

Nuclear Factor of Activated T-cells
Nuclear Factor of kappa light polypeptide gene enhancer in B- cells
Nottingham Histological Grade
Nuclear Protein, Ataxia- Telangiectasia locus
Myotonic dystrophy kinase-Related CDC42-binding Kinase
PhosphatidylInositol 3-Kinase
Protein Kinase B/v-akt murine thymoma viral oncogene homolog
Retinoblastoma protein
Progesterone Receptor
Rho Kinase
Skp1-Cullin-F-box complex
Specificity Protein 1 transcription

INTRODUCTION

The cell cycle

Overview

Cell reproduction requires duplication of the DNA followed by partitioning of the nucleus and division of the cytoplasm and plasma membrane in order to produce two daughter cells. This process is called the mitotic cell cycle and its sequential steps are normally accomplished under stringent control. With the exception of early embryonic cells, the cell cycle can be divided into four distinct phases: G1, S, G2 and M. The G1-phase constitutes a gap between the preceding cell division and the onset of a new round of DNA replication. During this phase diverse metabolic, stress and environmental cues are being integrated and interpreted, and based on these signals the cell decides whether to divide or not. If the proper mitogenic signals are received the cell enters the DNA synthesis phase, S-phase, in which the DNA is replicated, leading to the duplication of chromosomes. The second gap phase, G2, then ensues allowing the cell to prepare for mitosis. During mitosis, M-phase, the duplicated chromosomes segregate towards opposite poles to form two new nuclei and the plasma membrane of the mother cell divides in-between, yielding two daughter cells. The absence of sufficient mitogenic growth factors or the presence of growth-inhibitory signals will trigger the cell to exit the active cell cycle and enter a resting state, called G0. Depending on the cell's state and environmental cues, it can either remain in quiescence with the capacity to re-enter the cell cycle, or become permanently incapable of dividing by undergoing terminal differentiation or senescence. Defects in DNA replication during S-phase or in the proper allocation of chromosomes during M-phase can have serious consequences for the survival and behaviour of a cell. Such defects are the ultimate cause behind cancer. The cell cycle machinery is endowed with several control mechanisms ascertaining that the S-phase and M-phase are executed flawlessly. If genomic damage is detected the cell cycle is halted at certain checkpoints and progress is allowed only if the damage has been properly repaired. G1 checkpoints make sure that cells do not enter the S-phase with DNA damage and S-phase checkpoints halt the replication process when copying errors are detected. Further on, checkpoints in G2 block the progression into mitosis if replication is incomplete and M-phase checkpoints take care of defects in chromosome alignment, thereby preventing unequal segregation. Still other mechanisms monitor that each step of the cell cycle is performed once and only once, ensuring for example that the DNA is replicated only once each cycle.

As soon as the cell has taken the decision to divide in late G1 phase, the following series of steps will proceed through mitosis according to a more or less fixed schedule, independently of external influences (Weinberg, 2007). The period in G1 where the cell is susceptible to pro- and anti-proliferative signals from the extracellular environment and neighbouring cells is therefore of crucial importance for controlling appropriate cell division. Incipient tumour cells have acquired genetic defects that deregulate the integration and interpretation of these signals. This enables them to grow and divide in a way that initially threatens the architecture and functions

of the tissue and organ harbouring the tumour cells, and could eventually be disastrous for the organism. The cell cycle machinery that regulates the important progression from G1- to S-phase will be discussed in the next sections, followed by a description of some of the upstream signalling networks that affect the expression and function of these cell cycle regulators.

The G1- to S-phase progression

A group of serine/threonine kinases, called cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs), play an important role in regulating the progression from G1- to S-phase. These kinases form active heterodimeric complexes with their regulatory subunits, the cyclins. By phosphorylating target proteins in a temporally ordered fashion they drive and initiate the entry into S-phase. The timing and extent of CDK activity is regulated by the presence of cyclins, activating phosphorylations and dephosphorylations on specific CDK residues and by the binding of modulating partners called CDK inhibitors (Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). In order for mitogenic stimuli to trigger Sphase entry, brakes on the cell cycle progression have to be inactivated and removed. Perhaps the most important cell cycle suppressors are proteins of the retinoblastoma family, pRb (p105), p107 and p130, collectively referred to as the pocket proteins (Giacinti and Giordano, 2006). These proteins block cell cycle progression by suppressing transcription factors of the E2F family (E2F1-5). When active, the E2Fs regulate the expression of genes required for S-phase entry including genes encoding DNA replication proteins, enzymes involved in nucleotide synthesis and components of the origin recognition complex (Dyson, 1998). The pocket proteins are thought to inhibit E2F activity by binding and blocking their transcriptional activation domain and by recruiting histone deacetylases (HDACs), SWI/SNF factors, Polycomb group proteins and methyltransferases to the promoter sites where the E2Fs are situated. Recruitment of these latter proteins induces a chromatin structure that prevents transcription (Stevaux and Dyson, 2002). The interaction between the retinoblastoma proteins and E2F family members is a complex matter, as specific combinations appear at different time points during G1 and S-phase, and exert different transcriptional effects. In G0- early G1, E2F4 and -5 are bound to promoter sites forming transcriptional repressor complexes together with p107 and p130 (Gaubatz et al., 2000). Later in G1, the activating E2F1, -2 and -3 associate with S-phase target genes, but are inhibited in their transcriptional function by the repressing activity of pRb. Regulating the activity of pRb is therefore of importance since it will decide whether or not a cell is allowed to progress into S-phase and to divide, and it has been shown that inactivation of pRb is a common theme in human tumours. Loss of the normal retinoblastoma protein functions leads to inappropriate liberation of E2F activity and results in deregulated cell cycle control (Sage et al., 2000). A germline mutation in the RH gene, coding for pRb, is inherited in familial cases of retinoblastoma and pRb is also frequently lost or inactivated in various other types of cancer. Mutations of p107 and p130 do not seem to occur in primary tumours, indicating a specific role for pRb in tumorigenesis (Bartek et al., 1996; Classon and Harlow, 2002). Viral oncoproteins such as the human papilloma virus E7, the adenovirus E1A and the simian virus 40 large T antigen are able to inactivate pRb by sequestering it from its normal binding partners (Dyson et al., 1989). The fundamental role of the CDKs in G1- and S-phase is mainly attributable to their

ability to regulate pRb by means of phosphorylation. The first CDK complexes to appear in the G1-phase are cyclin D-CDK4/6 followed by cyclin E-CDK2. These complexes are normally strictly regulated but tumours often exploit them in various ways to deregulate the cell cycle control (Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). Figure 1 presents a simplified picture over some of the regulating events that take place during the progression through G1 to S-phase.



Figure 1. Inactivation of the retinoblastoma protein during G1. Mitogenic stimuli, e.g. growth factors, induce the expression of the D-type cyclins that bind to and activate their CDK partners, CDK4 and CDK6. Cyclin D-CDK4/6 initiates a series of inactivating phosphorylations on pRb, which enable E2F-mediated transcription. The emergence of active cyclin E-CDK2 complexes reinforce the phosphorylation of pRb resulting in the expression of genes involved in DNA synthesis.

Cyclin D

Under normal conditions the D-type cyclins act as growth factor sensors that integrate mitogenic signals with the cell cycle machinery, thereby enforcing the decision of cells to enter the S-phase (Sherr, 1995). CCNDI, -2 and -3 comprise a family of related genes that are situated at different chromosome loci and code for proteins approximately 33-34 kD in size. They share an average of 57% identity over the entire coding region and 78% in the cyclin box (Inaba et al., 1992; Xiong et al., 1992). The D-type cyclins are probably regulated by different transcription factors, resulting in a tissue specific expression pattern during development and in adult tissues, but they all seem to exert similar functions in driving cell cycle progression (Ciemerych et al., 2002). Cyclin D1 is rapidly induced upon mitogen stimulation and declines when these factors are withdrawn. Many transcription factors transactivate the CCND1 promoter, such as AP-1, Egr-1, STAT proteins, CREB, β-catenin and NF-κB (Coqueret, 2002). Cyclin D1 is an unstable protein with a half-life of approximately 20 minutes and its degradation is mediated by the ubiquitin-dependent 26S proteasome. Phosphorylation by GSK3 β redirects cyclin D1 from the nucleus to the cytoplasm where the protein becomes bound to the E3 ubiquitin ligase SCF^{FBX4 αβ crystalline}, targeting it for proteasomal degradation (Diehl et al., 1998; Lin et al., 2006). Via the cyclin box, all D-type cyclins are able to bind and activate their kinase partners CDK4 and CDK6 (Matsushime et al., 1992; Meyerson and Harlow, 1994), and the most recognised function of these complexes is to phosphorylate pRb (Sherr and Roberts, 1999). When activated during mid G1, the cyclin D-CDK4/6 complexes are responsible for the initial phosphoryla-

tion of pRb that disrupts the pRb-HDAC interactions, resulting in a more open chromatin structure. This remodelling facilitates a partial transcriptional activity from the E2F-bound promoters. Subsequent phosphorylations by cyclin E-CDK2 complexes fully inactivate pRb and prevent pRb from binding and repressing E2F (Harbour et al., 1999). In order to become enzymatically active, CDK4/6 needs to be phosphorylated and dephosphorylated by CAK (CDK activating kinase) and Cdc25A, respectively (Iavarone and Massague, 1997; Kato et al., 1994). In addition, the assembly and stabilisation of cyclin D-CDK4/6 complexes are promoted by the interaction with the Cip/Kip family members p21 and p27. These latter proteins belong to a group of proteins that are referred to as CDK inhibitors owing to their ability to inhibit other CDK complexes such as cyclin E-CDK2. Thus, when stable ternary complexes are formed between p21/p27 and cyclin D-CDK4/6, this will indirectly facilitate the activation of cyclin E-CDK2 complexes that, in turn, are important for the subsequent cell cycle progression (Sherr and Roberts, 1999). CDK4/6 is further negatively regulated by the INK4 family members p15, p16, p18 and p19. By specifically competing with the D-type cyclins in binding to CDK4/6, the INK4 inhibitors form binary inactive complexes that block the cyclin D-dependent pRbphosphorylation (Sherr and Roberts, 1995). The role of cyclin D in regulating the cell cycle has been illustrated in various experiments. Overexpression of cyclin D1 resulted in both an accelerated G1 progression and in a reduced requirement for growth factor stimulation to exit G0 (Musgrove et al., 1994; Quelle et al., 1993; Resnitzky et al., 1994). Further, blocking cyclin D1 by injection of inhibiting antibodies could prevent G1 progression (Baldin et al., 1993; Quelle et al., 1993). The classical cell cycle function of cyclin D1 is probably dependent on pRb since cells lacking pRb are independent of cyclin D1 for cell cycle progression (Lukas et al., 1995). Although the D-type cyclins and their associated kinases undoubtedly play an important role in regulating the cell cycle, the generation of knock-out mice lacking different combinations of the cyclins and CDKs has generated quite surprising results. For example, mice lacking individual D-cyclins, CDK4 or CDK6 are viable and present narrow, tissue-specific defects (Kozar and Sicinski, 2005). Knocking out all three D-cyclins was shown to be embryonic lethal due to severe anemia and cardiac abnormalities but, still, many organs were able to develop normally. Further, fibroblasts derived from these triple knockout mice proliferated relatively normally in culture, although they required higher mitogen stimulation to exit G0 (Kozar et al., 2004). Similar results were observed in mice lacking both CDK4 and CDK6 (Malumbres et al., 2004). These experiments collectively indicate that the cyclin D-CDK complexes are not essential for cell cycle progression, at least not during embryonic development. Despite the devaluation of the importance of the D-type cyclins in G1 progression, cyclin D1 expression is clearly relevant in tumour development. Increased levels of cyclin D1 protein have been shown in a number of primary human tumours, and in a fraction of these tumours the increased protein expression correlated with gene amplification (Donnellan and Chetty, 1998). A causative role for cyclin D1 in breast cancer formation was suggested because transgenic mice engineered to overexpress cyclin D1 in the mammary glands developed hyperplasia and breast tumours (Wang et al., 1994). Cyclin D1 probably plays a key role in the initiation of certain types of malignancies,

as several oncogenic pathways target and are dependent on cyclin D1 for inducing transformation. In the mouse, mammary tumour formation triggered by the Ras and Her2/Neu pathway requires cyclin D1, whereas the *Myd* and *Wnt-1* oncogenes are able to elicit malignant transformation in the absence of cyclin D1 (Yu et al., 2001). In addition to the well-established CDK-dependent role, the D-type cyclins have been shown to have CDK-independent functions by binding and activating or repressing several transcription factors such as the oestrogen and androgen receptors, DMP1, STAT3, SP1 and C/EBPβ (Coqueret, 2002; Lamb et al., 2003). Cyclin D1 has also been suggested to modulate cell migration by controlling Rho/ROCK signalling and expression of thrombospondin 1 (Li et al., 2006c). Cyclin D1^{-/-} mouse embryo fibroblasts presented increased ROCK II activity and increased thrombospondin 1 expression, properties that were linked to their decreased migratory ability.

Cyclin E

The promoter regions of the genes coding for the E-type cyclins, CCNE1 and -2, contain E2F binding sites. Expression of cyclin E1 and -2 is therefore induced when the pRb-mediated repression of E2F is alleviated (Ohtani et al., 1995). Cyclin E1 and -2 share 47% overall amino acid similarity and 70% similarity within the cyclin box, and they also share the same expression patterns and affinities to binding partners (Lauper et al., 1998). Cyclin E1 has been more extensively studied and will be referred to as cyclin E below. Being an E2F target, cyclin E levels peak during late G1-phase and as the S-phase progresses cyclin E becomes degraded. Two distinct pathways that involve the ubiquitin-proteasome machinery mediate the degradation of cyclin E. One pathway exclusively targets free, monomeric cyclin E and involves the Cul-3 protein (Singer et al., 1999), whereas the other pathway involves the SCF-Fbw7 ubiquitin ligase. In order for the F-box protein Fbw7 to target cyclin E for destruction, cyclin E needs to be phosphorylated on specific residues. Both CDK2 and GSK3β have been shown to carry out these phosphorylations that in turn induce cyclin E turnover (Welcker et al., 2003). When expressed, cyclin E binds to and activates CDK2 and the activated complex phosphorylates several target proteins that are involved in initiating DNA replication (Hwang and Clurman, 2005). Apart from cyclin E binding, the activity of CDK2 is regulated by the interactions of Cip/Kip CDK inhibitors and by inhibitory and activating phosphorylations. Through binding to and phosphorylating pRb, cyclin E-CDK2 complexes complete the inactivation of pRb that was initiated by cyclin D-CDK4/6, resulting in an unrestrained E2F transcriptional activity. This event is often regarded as the point where further cell cycle progression becomes independent of mitogenic stimulation (Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). Cyclin E not only stimulates its own expression by promoting E2F activity, the cyclin E-CDK2 complexes are also able to reinforce their activity by targeting the CDK inhibitor p27 for degradation (Sheaff et al., 1997). In addition to pRb and p27, cyclin E-CDK2 phosphorylates proteins that are directly involved in S-phase activities, such as NPAT/p220, Cdc6 and the centrosome regulating proteins nucleophosmin and CP110 (Chen et al., 2002; Ma et al., 2000; Mailand and Diffley, 2005; Okuda et al., 2000). Phosphorylating NPAT/p220 enables NPAT/p220 to interact with and activate the transcription factor HiNF-P that in turn induces transcription of histone H4 genes. The cyclin E-CDK2/NPAT/HiNF-P

pathway coordinates DNA replication with histone synthesis so that the newly replicated DNA immediately becomes packaged as chromatin (Miele et al., 2005). Cyclin E-CDK2 also directly phosphorylates Cdc6, thereby promoting the assembly of pre-replication complexes, which in turn licences the DNA for replication (Mailand and Diffley, 2005). Further, cyclin E exerts a kinase-independent function by binding to MCM helicases and facilitating their loading into the pre-replication complexes, a necessary step for the initiation of DNA replication (Geng et al., 2007). By phosphorylating nucleophosmin, cyclin E-CDK2 initiates centrosome duplication during the S-phase. Several lines of evidence have shown that cyclin E-CDK2 activity plays a critical role in G1-S-phase progression. Overexpression of cyclin E in cell lines causes decreased requirements for mitogens, a more rapid G1-progression as well as a prolonged S-phase. Further, inhibition of cyclin E-CDK2 activity was shown to prevent S-phase entry (Ohtsubo and Roberts, 1993; Ohtsubo et al., 1995; Tsai et al., 1993). In contrast to cyclin D-CDK4/6, the cell cycle regulatory function of cyclin E-CDK2 is not dependent on the pRb-E2F pathway, since excess cyclin E stimulates S-phase entry in the presence of mutated pRb (Lukas et al., 1997). Similar to the experience from genetically modified mice lacking the D-type cyclins and their associated kinases, studies utilising cyclin E- and CDK2-null mice have enforced a re-evaluation of the importance of cyclin E-CDK2 in cell cycle regulation. Mice lacking cyclin E1, cyclin E2 or CDK2 are viable although the CDK2^{-/-} mice are sterile (Sherr and Roberts, 2004). Knocking out both cyclin E genes caused embryonic lethality due to trophoblastic failure and placental defects (Parisi et al., 2003). These results indicated that normal proliferation and development was independent of cyclin E expression, whereas cyclin E seemed to be critical in the process of endoreplication, i.e. multiple rounds of DNA synthesis without cell division. The role for cyclin E in endoreplication has been suggested to involve defective MCM loading (Hwang and Clurman, 2005). Cyclin E1- and E2-null mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs) were able to continue normal asynchronous cell division but they were unable to re-enter the cell cycle from a G0-state. These cells were further resistant to transformation induced by different combinations of oncogenic stimuli, such as c-Myc, H-Ras+ c-Myc/dominant negative p53/E1A (Geng et al., 2003). In contrast to the cyclin E knockout mice, CDK2-/- mice did not present any placental defects; CDK2-null MEFs were able to enter the S-phase after serum stimulation and were further transformed by oncogenes (Berthet et al., 2003). These results demonstrate that CDK2 is dispensable for cell division and further stress the CDK-independent functions of cyclin E in cell cycle regulation. In addition, the absence of phenotypes in the CDK2^{-/-} mice and MEFs might partially be explained by the overlap between CDK2 and CDK1. It has been shown that cyclin E can bind and activate CDK1, implying that this redundancy might compensate for the loss of CDK2 function (Aleem et al., 2005). The fact that cells lacking cyclin E are resistant to oncogenic transformation, indicates that cyclin E could be functionally involved in tumorigenesis. Many cancers present elevated levels of cyclin E protein and/or mRNA. This is most likely due to mutations in upstream pathways that regulate cyclin E expression, although gene amplifications do occur in primary tumours, albeit infrequently (Hwang and Clurman, 2005). Defects in cyclin E proteolysis might also contribute to excess protein levels and Fbw7 mutations have

been reported both in cancer cell lines and in primary tumours (Moberg et al., 2001; Spruck et al., 2002). Although mouse models have failed to show that cyclin E overexpression is sufficient to induce tumour formation (Bortner and Rosenberg, 1997), cyclin E deregulation might contribute to the tumorigenic process in conjunction with additional mutations. The current view favours that increased genetic instability might be the mechanism by which deregulated cyclin E expression promotes tumour formation. Cyclin E overexpression, alone or in combination with loss of the p53 checkpoint, has been shown to induce genetic instability and aneuploidy in cancer cell lines and in primary cells (Minella et al., 2002; Spruck et al., 1999). Both defects in S-phase progression due to impaired MCM loading, and centrosome amplifications (Kawamura et al., 2004) have been proposed as possible explanations for the cyclin E-induced genetic instability, but this issue is still not settled.

Upstream signalling networks involved in cell cycle regulation

A plethora of signals can potentially affect cells in their decision to divide. The availability of nutrients, growth factors, hormones, cytostatic factors, cell-cell communications as well as the interaction between cells and their surrounding extracellular matrix (ECM), collectively dictate whether a cell is allowed to progress into S-phase or not. Signals of different kinds are sensed and received by receptor molecules that relay the input information into an intracellular signalling network. This network can be viewed as separate pathways that communicate with each other upon signalling events and coordinate the information to yield a cellular response. Several pathways have been mapped that influence the expression and activity of cell cycle regulators involved in the G1- and S-phase progression, such as the MAP-kinase pathway and the PI3-kinase pathway (Liang and Slingerland, 2003; Meloche and Pouyssegur, 2007). Anchoring membrane-bound complexes, such as the E-cadherin- β -catenin complex and integrin based focal adhesions (Walker and Assoian, 2005), connect cytoskeletal structures to the extracellular environment and link information from neighbouring cells and the ECM to the cell cycle machinery. The actin and microtubule cytoskeletons play a role in the execution of physical cell division events and, in addition, are involved in the signalling transduction that regulates cell cycle progression. A schematic illustration depicting some of the pathways in the network that transduce signals to the cell cycle machinery is shown in figure 2.

Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways

MAP kinases are a family of serine/threonine protein kinases that are involved in the regulation of a variety of cellular activities such as cell proliferation, differentiation, cell death and movement. MAPK signalling cascades are organised hierarchically into three levels where the MAPKs are phosphorylated and activated by MAPK kinases, which in turn are phosphorylated by MAPKK kinases. These latter kinases interact with small GTPases, connecting the MAPK pathway to cell surface receptors and external stimuli. One MAPK pathway that is extensively involved in cell cycle regulation signals through Ras-Raf-MEK1/2-ERK1/2, where ERK1/2 constitutes the final effector MAPK (Pearson et al., 2001). ERK1/2 are multifunctional kinases that phosphorylate a vast array of proteins including other protein kinases, signalling effectors, receptors, cytoskel-



Figure 2. Extracellular signals are transduced through several pathways that impinge on the cell cycle regulators cyclin D1 and p27. The net result on the cell cycle progression into S-phase is influenced by the complex crosstalk between the different pathways. Signalling interactions in this network are indicated in a very simplified way.

Rb

GO

etal proteins and nuclear transcriptional regulators. ERK1/2 become rapidly phosphorylated and activated in response to mitogenic stimulation, and sustained ERK1/2 activity until late G1 is required for successful S-phase entry (Yamamoto et al., 2006). The activity declines at the G1-S-phase transition and is not necessary at the actual S-phase entry (Meloche, 1995). ERK1/2 stimulate cell growth by inducing global protein synthesis through increased ribosome activity. This impact is partially mediated through ERK1/2-dependent enhancement of mTOR signalling (Wullschleger et al., 2006). ERK1/2 probably use several mechanisms to promote G1 progression where induction of cyclin D1 expression is one important function (Meloche and Pouyssegur, 2007). The CCND1 promoter contains binding sites for the transcriptional complex AP-1, and ERK1/2 induce the expression of AP-1 components (Treinies et al., 1999). ERK1/2 further regulate cyclin D1 expression through phosphorylation and inactivation of Tob, which acts as a transcriptional co-repressor that negatively regulates cyclin D1 transcription (Suzuki et al., 2002). In addition, activation of ERK1/2 in G1 regulates the CDK inhibitors p21 and p27. Transient activation of ERK1/2 induces expression of p21, which likely contributes to the stabilisation of cyclin D1-CDK4/6 complexes (Liu et al., 1996). As mentioned earlier, the MAPK pathways impinge on many cellular activities besides proliferation. For example, the MAPK family members ERK1/2, JNK and p38 have all been shown to play a role in regulating cell migration. The different MAPK members phosphorylate target proteins that are involved

in focal adhesion dynamics, actino-myosin contractility and actin and microtubule cytoskeletal organisation (Huang et al., 2004). Exactly how the different downstream responses, which are induced by active MAPK signalling, relate to each other has not yet been extensively studied. However, it seems likely that a certain degree of coordination is necessary to ensure an efficient execution of the functional responses.

The PI3K pathway

A variety of stimuli, many of which also induce MAPK pathways, activate phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K). PI3K activity results in the synthesis of the important lipid second messenger PIP, (phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5 triphosphate), which in turn recruits PKB/Akt and other effectors to the plasma membrane, leading to their activation (Woodgett, 2005). PKB/Akt is a serine/threonine kinase that is best known to promote cell survival by phosphorylating several pro-apoptotic target proteins, but it is also involved in regulating proliferation, angiogenesis and cell invasion and migration (Yoeli-Lerner and Toker, 2006). The induction of cyclin D1 upon growth factor stimulation is not exclusively dependent on the MAPK pathway. Cyclin D1 accumulation is also modulated by protein degradation through the activity of GSK3β, which in turn is a well-known target of PKB/Akt (Cross et al., 1995). PKB/Akt mediated phosphorylation inactivates GSK3 β , leading to stabilisation of the cyclin D1 protein. It has been shown that MAPK activity fails to increase cyclin D1 levels in the presence of PI3K inhibitors (Treinies et al., 1999). PKB/Akt has also been suggested to promote cyclin D1 transcription and translation (Liang and Slingerland, 2003). In addition to supporting cyclin D1 accumulation, the PI3K pathway has been shown to be involved in regulating p21 and p27. PKB/Akt directly phosphorylates p27, leading to an impaired nuclear localisation, and thereby preventing p27 from inhibiting nuclear cyclin E-CDK2 complexes (Liang et al., 2002). Similarly, p21 is suggested to accumulate in the cytoplasm upon PKB/Akt phosphorylation (Zhou et al., 2001). The multitude and complexity of downstream effects triggered by PI3K-PKB/Akt activity is stressed by findings that indicate a novel role for a specific isoform of PKB/Akt in suppressing tumour cell migration and invasion (Yoeli-Lerner and Toker, 2006). In one study, Akt1 (PKBα) was shown to repress breast cancer cell motility by inhibiting the transcriptional activity of NFAT (Yoeli-Lerner et al., 2005). In an *in vivol* mouse model of breast cancer, expression of Akt1 accelerated tumorigenesis through increased cellular proliferation but also interfered with the metastatic progression, resulting in fewer metastatic lesions (Hutchinson et al., 2004).

The Integrin-FAK pathway

The ECM affects the behaviour of cells through interactions with integrins, a large family of cell surface receptors. Integrins consist of two transmembrane subunits, α and β , and different combinations of these subunits dictate the binding specificity to various ECM constituents. Integrins transduce signals from the ECM by binding to the cytoskeleton, cytoplasmic kinases and membrane bound growth factor receptors (Giancotti and Ruoslahti, 1999). Larger aggregates consisting of integrins, associated signalling mediators and actin filaments make up structures known as focal adhesions. Activated focal adhesion complexes induce intracellular

signalling that affects cell cycle progression, survival, differentiation, polarity and migration. By integrating ECM adhesion and signalling transduction with cytoskeletal structures, the integrins add a positional and architectural dimension to the signalling mechanisms that determines the G1-phase progression. The involvement of integrin-mediated adhesion in cell cycle control is reflected in the anchorage dependent proliferation of normal cells. Tumour cells display a reduced adhesion dependency for their proliferation and survival, but they still utilise and benefit from certain types of integrin signalling (Guo and Giancotti, 2004). The signalling through ECM-integrin complexes and growth factor receptors is tightly interwoven and regulates cell cycle progression in a cooperative manner (Assoian and Schwartz, 2001). Focal adhesion kinase, FAK, has been extensively studied as being one of the cytosolic integrin partners that is important in modulating receptor signalling and cell cycle control. Overexpression of FAK in mouse fibroblasts accelerated G1 progression and promoted tumour cell proliferation in vivd (Wang et al., 2000; Zhao et al., 1998). Conversely, expression of a dominant negative FAK mutant inhibited cell cycle progression. FAK affects the cell cycle indirectly by regulating the activity of the MAP kinases JNK and ERK1/2, which in turn positively regulate cyclin D1 expression (Oktay et al., 1999; Zhao et al., 1998). FAK has also been shown to directly contribute to cyclin D1 expression by inducing the transcription factor KLF8 that binds to and activates the CCND1 promoter (Zhao et al., 2003). Other downstream effector molecules of integrin signalling are PI3K and the Rho-family of small GTPases, that both play a role in regulating cyclin D1 levels. Membrane localisation and subsequent activation of Rac, a member of the Rho-family involved in many cellular activities, has been shown to be dependent on integrin-mediated adhesion (del Pozo et al., 2000).

The actin cytoskeleton and Rho GTPases

In addition to the regulatory involvement of growth factors and cell adhesion, the organisation of the actin cytoskeleton has been implicated in G1-phase progression. Disruption of the cytoskeleton integrity has been shown to prevent quiescent (G0) cells from progressing through G1 by affecting both ERK1/2-dependent and independent mechanisms (Bohmer et al., 1996; Huang and Ingber, 2002; Lohez et al., 2003; Reshetnikova et al., 2000). Studies using several different cell types have indicated that actin reorganisation in early G1 is important for proper cyclin D1 and p27 expression. However, an integrated actin cytoskeleton does not seem to be as important for G1 progression in cells that enter G1 directly from mitosis, probably due to the fact that these cells do not need to upregulate cyclin D1 and downregulate CDK inhibitors to the same extent as quiescent cells (Margadant et al., 2007). The small GTPase proteins RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 have been suggested as candidates for linking cytoskeletal organisation with cell cycle progression. The role of the Rho GTPases in modelling the actin cytoskeleton is well established and RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 are important regulators of cell migration through the control of different modes of actin reorganisation (Raftopoulou and Hall, 2004). In fibroblasts, inhibition of these small GTPases was shown to block mitogen-stimulated G1-S-phase progression, and conversely, microinjection of active RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 was sufficient to induce quiescent cells to progress into S-phase (Olson et al., 1995). The downstream effectors of RhoA,

ROCKI and ROCKII, are able to affect cell cycle proteins by distinct mechanisms. ROCK signalling acts partially via the MAPK pathway to elevate cyclin D1 levels and through MAPK-independent mechanisms to increase and decrease cyclin A and p27 expression, respectively (Croft and Olson, 2006). In endothelial cells, p27 was downregulated through a RhoA-mediated increase of the F-box protein Skp2, which is required for degradation of p27 (Mammoto et al., 2004). In addition to RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 have been shown to stimulate cyclin D1 expression independently of MAPK signalling, possibly by direct interactions with the transcription factor NF- κ B (Coleman et al., 2004; Joyce et al., 1999).

A cell cycle perspective on tumour cell behaviour

As indicated in the above sections regarding the signalling networks that regulate the cell cycle, it is clear that distinct pathways are able to induce many different cellular responses. Which response a certain type of signalling evokes is most likely dependent on several factors, including the state of specific members of the triggered pathway and the general intra- and extracellular context in which the signalling takes place. The end result of signalling through one pathway could be modulated by the state of other, interconnected pathways. Furthermore, neighbouring cells and the ECM environment might influence whether the response will be A or B, or alternatively no response at all. Cell type and differentiation state are other factors that clearly are involved in deciding cellular behaviour in terms of signalling evoked responses. In addition, the proliferative activity of a cell could potentially be a factor that affects the range of possible cellular responses, including migratory behaviour. Theoretically, there could be different reasons for assuming that cell cycle activities would modulate cellular responses that are unrelated to proliferation, such as cell migration. Firstly, the signal-transducing, information-processing network that mediates cell cycle progression is the same that integrates migration-stimulating cues into a coordinated migratory response. A successful triggering of the G1-S-transition might evoke feedback mechanisms that negatively affect the same signalling pathways that mediated the cell cycle progression. Since these pathways are involved in the implementation of migratory responses, cell cycle activities would have a restraining impact on migration. Secondly, as a cell traverses the point in G1 where it becomes committed to complete the cell cycle, it might need to focus its abilities in order to optimally execute the division. If this is the case, then it could be assumed that a cell is unlikely to commit its cytoskeletal and genetic machinery to both cell division and migration concurrently. This would imply that there is a window spanning from the end of M-phase to late G1 where a cell's freedom to migrate is maximal. This reasoning might be relevant when trying to understand the complex behaviour of tumour cells. By definition, tumour cells belong to a proliferative population and will therefore spend time in the active cell cycle phases where they either prepare themselves to divide (G1- or G2-phase) or are occupied in the acts of division (S- or M-phase). Thus, in principle, the migratory ability of a tumour cell could depend on the frequency at which it enters the active cell cycle. However, the plastic nature of tumour cells will most likely enable the development of capabilities that could bypass the proliferative constraints on migration. Nevertheless, assuming that such capabilities have not been acquired, the hypothesised coordinated relation between migration and active cell

cycling at the cellular level could impact the overall invasive behaviour of a tumour. Supposing two tumours with all other parameters equal except for proliferative activity, the tumour that consists of highly proliferative cells would be predicted to exhibit a less invasive growth compared to the tumour that consists of low-proliferative cells. Despite the obvious simplification of such theoretical reasoning, there are observations and experimental results that seem to support a coordinated regulation of cell proliferation and motility. For example, tumour cells localised at the invasive front of basal cell carcinomas were shown to express high levels of p16 and to be low-proliferative (Svensson et al., 2003). In vivd models of tumour cell motility and invasion in mouse and rat where actively invading cells were isolated and directly analysed, showed that the invasive cells were less proliferative compared to the general population of cells from the primary tumour (Wang et al., 2007). Further, studies using glioma and astrocytoma cell lines led to similar conclusions, i.e. that migrating cells presented a reduced proliferative activity (Giese et al., 1996; Mariani et al., 2001). However, another study failed to show that the migratory activity of medulloblastoma cells was influenced by their mitotic activity (Corcoran and Del Maestro, 2003). Undoubtedly, divergent results might be due to the use of different experimental settings and cell lines. To gain more knowledge about the relation between proliferative activity and the migratory/invasive capacity of tumour cells is not just of theoretical interest, it might also contribute to a deeper understanding of tumour behaviour in general. The process of cell migration and invasion is in it self very complicated and will be briefly addressed in the following section.

Tumour cell migration and invasion

In order for a locally established primary epithelial tumour to become malignant and thereby constitute a threat to the host, the tumour cells have to break loose from their origin tissue context and invade into the surrounding tissue, enter the vasculature and circulate to distant sites, and finally extravasate and establish metastatic foci. Invasion is performed either by single cells or by clusters of cells. Loss of expression of E-cadherin and certain cytokeratins, as well as upregulation of N-cadherin and vimentin are changes that are frequently involved in single cell invasion. This change of gene expression is often referred to as epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, which is a naturally occurring process in specific cell types, that leads to loss of cell-cell contacts and the gain of cell motility (Guarino et al., 2007). In addition, expression of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) enables the breakdown of the basement membrane that separates the epithelial cell layer from the tissue stroma. The activity of MMPs also generates proteolytic fragments that further enhance tumour cell migration (Stamenkovic, 2003). When the basement membrane barrier is penetrated, tumour cells utilise the process of directional movement to invade the surrounding stroma (Condeelis et al., 2005). The directionality is governed by gradients of either ECM binding sites or soluble chemoattractants such as chemokines and growth factors. Concentration gradients of chemoattractants are due either to passive diffusion from blood vessels or active secretion from stromal cells. Carcinoma cells can recruit different host cells to support their migration through the stroma towards the vasculature (Karnoub et al., 2007; Kedrin et al., 2007). Paracrine communications between tumour cells and cancerassociated fibroblasts and macrophages have been shown to enhance tumour cell invasiveness.

For example, secretion of CSF-1 (colony stimulating factor 1) by tumour cells can trigger macrophage secretion of EGF (epidermal growth factor), which in turn stimulates the migratory behaviour of tumour cells (Wyckoff et al., 2004). The migratory response involves regulation of pathways that control cell-ECM adherence and actin cytoskeleton remodelling. Two modes of single cell migration have been described, an elongated mesenchymal type and a rounded amoeboid type that utilise different mechanisms of actin cytoskeleton remodelling and are variably dependent on integrin-mediated adhesion (Friedl and Wolf, 2003; Sahai and Marshall, 2003). The elongated mode of migration in a three-dimensional matrix resembles migration over a 2D surface and could be described as a multistep cycle. This migration cycle starts with membrane protrusion of the leading edge driven by gradient stimulated local actin polymerisation. Formation of cell-ECM focal adhesions at the leading edge and the recruitment of actin binding proteins to these adhesion sites serve to anchor newly formed actin stress fibres. This anchorage is followed by cell contraction where activated myosin II binds to the actin filaments and generates actino-myosin contractility that translocates the cell body in the direction of the gradient. The last step in this migration cycle consists of focal contact disassembly at the trailing edge leading to its detachment. In addition to these steps, 3D movement requires proteolytic remodelling of the ECM (Friedl and Wolf, 2003). The amoeboid mode of migration is characterised by weaker ECM interactions and movement is mediated by cortical filamentous actin instead of stress fibres. Higher cell plasticity in combination with less adhesion enables the amoeboid tumour cells to penetrate the ECM barrier through pre-existing pores without the need for proteolytic cleavage (Condeelis et al., 1992; Friedl and Wolf, 2003). Many tumour cells seem to be able to adapt their mode of invasion in response to changing conditions. For example, inhibition of the proteolytic activity of elongated tumour cells does not block the migratory capacity. Instead, these elongated cells are able to maintain their migration through converting to the proteolyticindependent amoeboid mode of motility (Wolf et al., 2003). A requirement for cell movement, irrespective of mode, is the generation of actino-myosin contractility. Both RhoA and Cdc42 are involved in this process by activating downstream effector kinases, such as ROCK and MRCK, leading to increased levels of myosin phosphorylation, which then can cross-link actin filaments and generate contractile force (Raftopoulou and Hall, 2004; Wilkinson et al., 2005). As mentioned above, clusters of cells as well as individual cells can perform tumour cell invasion. Clustered cell migration requires the maintenance of homophilic cell-cell interactions and it has been shown that cells in these clusters express different kinds of cadherins and gap-junction proteins (Friedl et al., 1995; Friedl and Wolf, 2003). Multicellular contractile bodies are allowed to form due to a specific structure of cortical actin filament assembly along cell junctions implying some kind of supracellular cytoskeletal organization (Hegerfeldt et al., 2002). In histological samples of tumours, different variants of collective migration can be observed. Invasive growth can be generated either by protruding sheets of tumour cells that maintain contact with the primary tumour or by detached groups of cells. A specific example of collective migration is the chains of single tumour cells aligned between stromal fibres, called 'Indian files', that are a typical histological feature of invasive lobular breast carcinoma (Martinez and Azzopardi, 1979).

Breast cancer

Breast cancer is the most frequently diagnosed form of cancer in women in the so-called western world. As for most of cancer diseases, the risk of developing breast cancer is related to age (WHO, 2006). In Sweden, breast cancer makes up about 30% of all diagnosed female cancer and the lifetime risk of developing this disease up to the age of 75 is estimated to be 9.6%. The incidence rate has increased over the last 40 years but the five-year survival rate has improved from 65% in the sixties to about 85% in the nineties. The improved survival among breast cancer patients is probably due to both earlier detection and better treatment (Socialstyrelsen, 2007; Talback et al., 2003). In addition to the general cancer risk factors age and radiation, the likelihood of developing breast cancer is associated with hormone exposure. Life history factors such as early menarche, late menopause, late first birth or nulliparity increase the lifetime exposure of endogenous oestrogen peaks during the menstrual cycle. Oral contraceptives and hormonal replacement therapy add exogenous oestrogen to the overall hormone exposure and further increase the risk of breast cancer. The majority of breast cancer cases arise sporadically, although approximately 20% of breast cancer patients have a known family history of the disease. 5-10% of all cases are considered to be hereditary, mainly due to mutations in the major breast cancer susceptibility genes BRCA1 and BRCA2 (Kumar, 2007).

Adult breast glands undergo major developmental changes during pregnancy, lactation and involution. Breast glands consist of a branched ductal network encompassed by a basement membrane and surrounded by connective- and fat tissue. The ductal network terminates in lobular units that secrete milk during lactation. Ducts are bilayered structures comprised of an outer basal layer of myoepithelial cells that surround an inner layer of polarised luminal epithelial cells (Moinfar, 2007). Basal myoepithelial cells resemble smooth muscle cells and exhibit contractile properties and they form adhesive interactions with luminal cells, other myoepithelial cells and the basement membrane (Adriance et al., 2005). The epithelial cells lining the lobular units differentiate during pregnancy and lactation to secrete milk.

Current evidence supports the belief that both luminal epithelial cells and myoepithelial cells are derived from common breast epithelial precursor cells located within the luminal compartment (Gudjonsson et al., 2002; Pechoux et al., 1999). This distinct population of mammary precursor/stem cells has been shown to have the exclusive ability to form tumours in mice and are suggested to be the cells that drive tumorigenesis (Al-Hajj et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2005). The cancer stem cell hypothesis is based on the fact that stem cells are long-lived, slowly dividing cells with the capacity for self-renewal. Due to their longevity, stem cells could be exposed to damaging agents for long periods of time and might therefore accumulate mutations that result in tumorigenic transformation. Aberrant differentiation of these transformed progenitor/stem cells is further suggested to generate the phenotypic heterogeneity found in human breast cancers (Dontu et al., 2003).

The heterogeneity of this disease is reflected in the different morphology exhibited by the clinically recognised forms of breast cancer. Non-invasive breast carcinomas that have not penetrated the basement membrane are classified as ductal carcinoma *in situl* (DCIS) or lobular

carcinoma in situl (LCIS). The invasive carcinomas are classified into several different subtypes, for example invasive ductal carcinoma, invasive lobular carcinoma, tubular carcinoma and medullary carcinoma. Approximately 80% of all breast cancers are classified as invasive ductal carcinoma. This subtype is defined by exclusion as not falling into any of the other categories of invasive carcinomas. It is a heterogeneous category ranging from well-differentiated tumours with tubule formation to poorly differentiated tumours consisting of sheets of anaplastic cells. The tumour margins are usually irregular and the carcinomas often elicit a strong host reaction composed of fibroblasts, lymphocytes and ECM (Kumar, 2007). Invasive lobular carcinomas make up 10-15% of all invasive carcinomas and present a distinct morphological appearance with aligned strands ('Indian file' pattern) of invading tumour cells (Martinez and Azzopardi, 1979). Tubular carcinomas are rare and account for only a few percent of the invasive breast carcinomas. This subtype is recognised by differentiated cells that grow in well-formed tubule structures (Kumar, 2007). Medullary carcinomas account for roughly 5% of invasive carcinomas and are characterised by large anaplastic, highly proliferative cells that grow in a pushing, well-delimited pattern with a pronounced lymphoid infiltration (Pedersen, 1997). Despite the low differentiation grade of this subtype, patients with medullary carcinomas have a relatively better prognosis and are on average diagnosed at a younger age (Pedersen et al., 1995). The frequency of medullary carcinomas seems to be higher in patients with BRCA1 mutations and BRCA1 tumours display many of the medullary characteristics such as low differentiation grade, p53 mutations and a negative oestrogen receptor (ER) status (BCLC, 1997; Eisinger et al., 1998; Lakhani et al., 2002). Efforts have been made to describe the diversity of breast tumours in terms of differences in gene expression patterns. Based on a subset of genes with significantly greater variation in expression between different tumours than between successive samples from the same tumour, five distinct subtypes of breast tumours have been defined (Sorlie et al., 2001). The two most distinguishable subtypes identified when gene expression profiles were analysed in three independent breast cancer data sets, were the so-called luminal-like and basal-like breast cancer subtypes. One suggested hypothesis to the consistent differences in gene expression patterns between the identified subtypes is that they originate from different breast epithelial cell lineages. Patients with basal-like tumours were further shown to have a significantly poorer clinical outcome compared to patients with luminal-like tumours (Sorlie et al., 2003).

The prognosis of breast cancer patients is routinely estimated on the basis of several parameters. Tumour size at the time of diagnosis is correlated to disease outcome where a larger tumour size predicts a worse prognosis. The presence of lymph node metastases is further linked to more aggressive disease. If the tumour has spread to other organs and established distant metastases, patients are rarely curable although chemotherapy may prolong survival. These three parameters are included in the tumour-node-metastases (TNM) staging system that is used to establish the clinical stage of the disease (Singletary et al., 2002). Morphological assessment of the degree of tumour differentiation has also been shown to provide important prognostic information in breast cancer (Elston and Ellis, 1991). In the currently established grading system, termed Nottingham Histological Grade (NHG), tumour differentiation grade is based on three parameters:

presence of tubular structures within the invasive tumour, nuclear atypia (accounting for nuclear size, nuclear morphologic variability and number of nucleoli), and mitotic count (a measure of tumour proliferative activity). A score from 1-3 is given to the parameters individually and the total sum of these scores defines the three NHG differentiation grades. Studies have shown that tumour grade is strongly correlated with prognosis; patients with grade I tumours have a significantly better survival than those with grade II and III tumours (Elston and Ellis, 1991; Sundquist et al., 1999). These clinical and histological parameters are being used to establish prognostic estimations that in turn guide the choice of therapy regime. Despite their correlations to prognosis, the current clinical criteria fail to accurately predict disease outcome and a significant number of patients are being misclassified, leading to either over-treatment or undertreatment of these patients. Several attempts have been made to find new and better prognostic and treatment predictive markers. One approach has been to analyse the gene expression profiles of breast tumours. In one study, supervised classification was used to identify a gene expression signature that strongly correlated with development of distant metastases (van 't Veer et al., 2002). Based on the expression of 70 genes, a 'good prognosis' signature and a 'poor prognosis' signature were defined. The power of this gene set to predict patients at risk of developing distant metastases was further validated in other breast tumour data sets, and it was shown that the prognostic signature had a lower degree of misclassification compared to the clinically used criteria (van de Vijver et al., 2002). Work is in progress to develop assays that could implement these encouraging results in a clinically suitable setting.

To date, three treatment predictive molecular markers: oestrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and HER2, are routinely assessed in the clinical management of breast cancer patients. The ER and PR function as ligand activated transcription factors and regulate expression of several genes, many of which are involved in proliferation. These steroid hormone receptors are normally expressed in only a fraction of breast epithelial cells where they play a role in oestrogen induced paracrine signalling that regulates the proliferation of ER- and PR-negative cells (Clarke, 2003; Clarke et al., 1997; Laidlaw et al., 1995). However, ER and PR expression is significantly increased in a majority of breast cancers, and many of the receptor positive tumour cells are themselves dependent on oestrogen for their proliferation (Clarke et al., 2004). The selective oestrogen receptor-modulating drug tamoxifen, which inhibits oestrogen activation of the ER, has been proven successful in the treatment of ER-positive breast cancer (EBCTCG, 1998). Hormone receptor status is therefore routinely evaluated by immunohistochemical staining of formalin-fixed tumour tissue sections, and patients with hormone receptor positive disease are considered likely to respond to endocrine therapies. The human epidermal growth factor receptor family consists of EGFR, HER2, HER3 and HER4. Upon ligand activation and receptor dimerisation, these receptors activate several downstream pathways that in turn regulate diverse processes involved in tumour cell behaviour, including differentiation, proliferation, survival and migration (Hsieh and Moasser, 2007). Mutational activation of these receptors is observed in many malignancies and HER2 is amplified and overexpressed in up to 25-30% of breast cancers (Slamon et al., 1989). HER2 amplified tumours have further been

linked to a poorer prognosis (Borg et al., 1990; Paterson et al., 1991). The monoclonal antibody trastuzumab directed against HER2, has been shown to induce tumour regression in a fraction of patients with HER2-amplified tumours (Tokunaga et al., 2006). In addition to ER and PR evaluations, immunohistochemical staining of HER2 protein is performed routinely together with HER2 amplification detection by FISH analysis; tumours with strong staining and over-amplification are considered eligible for treatment with trastuzumab.

G1-cyclins in breast cancer

As mentioned earlier, deregulation of cell cycle control is a prerequisite in tumour formation and several cell cycle related changes have been observed in breast cancer. Inactivating mutations of Rb, overexpression of cyclin D1 and cyclin E, and downregulation of p27 and p16 are examples of alterations that occur in breast cancer (Malumbres and Barbacid, 2001). Furthermore, some of these changes have been assigned prognostic or predictive relevance. Depending on tumour material and method of detection, cyclin D1 protein overexpression is reported in 25-60% of invasive breast carcinomas and CCND1 gene amplification occurs with a frequency ranging from 10-30% (Courjal et al., 1996; Gillett et al., 1994; Gillett et al., 1996; Jirstrom et al., 2005; McIntosh et al., 1995; Nielsen et al., 1997; Pelosio et al., 1996; Seshadri et al., 1996; Stendahl et al., 2004; Umekita et al., 2002; van Diest et al., 1997; Zukerberg et al., 1995). Generally, the gene amplified tumours seem to express somewhat higher levels of protein, but the discrepancy between the frequencies of protein overexpression and gene amplification implies that cyclin D1 protein could be elevated by means other than gene amplification (Gillett et al., 1994; Jirstrom et al., 2005). All studies to date on cyclin D1 in breast cancer report that cyclin D1 overexpression is significantly more common in hormone receptor positive tumours. It has been shown that cyclin D1 can activate the oestrogen receptor in a ligand-independent manner (Zwijsen et al., 1998), and cyclin D1 seems to have an important impact on anti-oestrogen treatment response. In two studies, it was shown that strong nuclear staining intensity for cyclin D1 was associated with an abrogated tamoxifen response in both pre- and postmenopausal breast cancer patients, and CCND1 amplification was even linked to an adverse effect in tamoxifen treated premenopausal patients (Jirstrom et al., 2005; Stendahl et al., 2004). There is a major discrepancy between different studies regarding the prognostic information of cyclin D1. However, the majority of studies report either no correlation or a negative correlation, such that patients with cyclin D1 overexpressing tumours experienced a relatively better outcome (Gillett et al., 1996; Nielsen et al., 1997; Seshadri et al., 1996; Stendahl et al., 2004; van Diest et al., 1997). Recalling the role of cyclin D1 in cell cycle regulation and breast cancer formation in mice, this might seem counterintuitive, but cyclin D1 overexpression in human breast cancer is generally associated with less aggressive tumour characteristics such as a lower histological grade, normal p53 and a retained pRb function (Loden et al., 2002; van Diest et al., 1997). In addition to the less aggressive background, it is possible that cyclin D1 overexpression in established invasive breast carcinomas could result in gain of as yet unknown tumour suppressive properties. When comparing cyclin D1- and cyclin E overexpression, it is clear that these events have distinct consequences and take place in different subsets of breast tumours. Increased levels of cyclin E

protein vary in frequency between 26-46%, again depending on patient selection and method of detection (Chappuis et al., 2005; Donnellan et al., 2001; Han et al., 2003; Keyomarsi et al., 2002; Kuhling et al., 2003; Nielsen et al., 1996; Porter et al., 2006; Porter et al., 1997; Rudolph et al., 2003; Span et al., 2003), and CCNE1 amplifications are rarely observed (Callagy et al., 2005; Schraml et al., 2003). In contrast to cyclin D1 overexpression, increased cyclin E levels are strongly correlated with a hormone receptor negative status and a higher histological grade (Nielsen et al., 1996; Porter et al., 2006; Rudolph et al., 2003). In addition, cyclin E overexpression has been related to a basal-like tumour phenotype and BRCA1-associated breast cancer (Chappuis et al., 2005; Foulkes et al., 2004). There is no consensus in the literature regarding the prognostic information of cyclin E. However, the majority of studies report a significant correlation between high cyclin E protein or mRNA levels and a poorer outcome (Chappuis et al., 2005; Donnellan et al., 2001; Han et al., 2003; Keyomarsi et al., 2002; Kuhling et al., 2003; Nielsen et al., 1996; Porter et al., 1997; Sieuwerts et al., 2006). In one study, the negative impact on outcome was restricted to postmenopausal patients (Rudolph et al., 2003). Two studies did not find any prognostic value of cyclin E (Porter et al., 2006; Span et al., 2003). A confounding factor in many of these studies is that the different prognostic analyses were based on patient subsets including both post-operatively untreated and treated patients. Due to the mixed patient cohorts, it is difficult to conclude whether cyclin E correlates with a worse prognosis or if cyclin E affects the response to certain therapies. It is likewise hard to draw any general conclusion regarding whether cyclin E confers independent prognostic information or not. The discrepancy between these studies could probably be explained by the use of heterogeneous patient cohorts, different detection methods and choice of cut-off and differences in statistical calculations. However, it might also reflect the limited power of one isolated gene product to predict the aggressive behaviour and clinical outcome of a tremendously complex disease. Maybe the most important result to come from the attempts to find isolated prognostic factors in breast cancer is the overall tumour biological information that these studies have generated. For example, the dichotomy between ER-positive/cyclin D1-high and ER-negative/cyclin E-high breast tumours adds molecular information to the observed heterogeneity.

THE PRESENT INVESTIGATION

Aim

The main objective of this thesis has been to study the relation between proliferative activity and migratory/invasive capacity in breast cancer cells, and to further explore the relevance of this relationship in tumour behaviour.

The specific aims were:

- To analyse the consequences of cyclin E overexpression for breast cancer cell behaviour, with specific focus on effects not directly involved in cell cycle regulation.
- To study how cyclin E overexpression relates to clinical and histopathological parameters in breast cancer.
- To determine the prognostic relevance of cyclin E in premenopausal breast cancer.
- To determine the association between cyclin E protein levels and tamoxifen response in premenopausal breast cancer patients.
- To test the influence of cell cycle activity on migratory capacity.
- To analyse the potential role of cyclin D1 in tumour cell migration.

Results and discussion

Increased S-phase activity and decreased invasiveness as a result of cyclin E overexpression in breast cancer cells – experimental results in agreement with *in vivd* observations (paper I) It is well established that cyclin E regulates important steps during the G1-S-phase transition and that cyclin E overexpression leads to deregulated cell cycle control (Hwang and Clurman, 2005). Based on these observations, cyclin E has been considered to have tumour promoting properties and it has also been found that many malignancies express elevated cyclin E protein levels. Furthermore, there are studies that suggest cyclin E overexpression to be a prognostic marker in breast cancer (Keyomarsi et al., 2002; Sieuwerts et al., 2006). Previous studies have however mainly focused on the cell cycle aspects of cyclin E expression. In paper I, we analysed the functional consequences of cyclin E overexpression in the breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-468, with particular emphasis on potential consequences not directly associated with the cell cycle. Initially, stable cyclin E-EGFP overexpressing clones were generated and analysed together with control clones expressing EGFP only. The cyclin E-high clones exhibited a permanently increased S-phase fraction compared to the control clones, indicating that the cyclin E-EGFP construct influenced the entry into and/or progression through the S-phase. In order to extend the investigation of cyclin E-mediated consequences, we conducted a microarray assay comparing the overall gene expression patterns of cyclin E-high clones and control clones. Approximately 430 genes were finally assigned to be differentially expressed between the clones, of which a majority were downregulated. Due to varying quality of the performed hybridisations, the filtering and selection criteria applied reduced the total number of differentially expressed genes, which most likely decreased the power of this analysis. Nevertheless, by classifying the approved changed genes into functional categories (using the ontological software GoMiner), we could obtain rough indications of functional consequences resulting from the differential gene expression. First of all, the functional category 'cell proliferation' contained a significant number of altered genes, illustrating that the ontological approach was able to capture a known functional difference. 'Cell adhesion' was another category that contained a significant number of altered genes, and this led us to speculate whether adhesion-related properties differed between the control and cyclin E-high clones. To test this hypothesis, we performed three functional assays measuring the adhesive, migratory and invasive capacity of the tumour cells, respectively. In a simple attachment assay, the cyclin E-high clones showed, on average, a higher capacity to adhere to an ordinary cell culturing substratum. Further, the cyclin E-high clones presented a reduced ability to migrate in scratch assays. Perhaps the most tumour biologically relevant difference observed, was the reduced invasiveness exhibited by the cyclin E-high clones. In agreement with this result, transiently cyclin E-transfected cells were also shown to have a decreased invasive ability, in addition to an increased S-phase fraction. The similarity between the stably and transiently transfected cells strengthened the probability that the decreased invasive phenotype of the stable clones was a result of cyclin E-induced changes, and not due to random clonal variation.

The actin cytoskeleton is involved in both adhesive and motility functions (Kodama et al., 2004; Vasioukhin et al., 2000); thus, to elucidate possible mechanisms behind the decreased invasiveness, we initially studied potential differences in actin cytoskeleton organisation. In contrast to the control clones, the cyclin E-high clones exhibited a membrane-associated actin organisation indicative of more rigid cell-cell contacts, which may potentially be involved in their low-invasive phenotype. Unfortunately, our efforts to further explore the underlying reasons for the cytoskeletal differences did not yield any conclusive results. For example, we did not find any difference in the membrane associated E-cadherin-β-catenin interactions, which are known to be important for cell-cell adhesions (Kovacs et al., 2002). In addition, we were unable to detect differences in the activity of the small GTPases that regulate actin cytoskeleton organisation (Raftopoulou and Hall, 2004). Nevertheless, the list of altered genes contained interesting candidates that, speculatively, could contribute to the low-invasive phenotype. THBS1 (thrombospondin 1), PXN (paxilin) and MMP7 (matrix metalloproteinase 7) were all differentially expressed, and their respective protein products have been shown to function in cell-ECM interactions, focal adhesion assembly/integrin signalling and ECM degradation, respectively (Adams and Lawler, 2004; Hagel et al., 2002; Shiomi and Okada, 2003).

To test the in vivo relevance of the main finding that cyclin E overexpression obstructed invasive capacity, we analysed cyclin E levels in relation to tumour growth patterns in a large set of primary breast carcinomas. Tumour biopsies were arranged in tissue microarrays and cyclin E immunoreactivity was scored as fractions of positive nuclei. Growth patterns were assessed using whole tumour sections and characterised by the mode of infiltration, ranging from a "sieving" and exclusively infiltrative pattern to a clearly pushing pattern with well-defined tumour margins. The degree of local infiltrative growth was used as an *in vivo* equivalent to the experimentally measured invasive capacity. Interestingly, a majority of the tumours that expressed the highest levels of cyclin E presented a predominantly pushing growth pattern. With decreasing levels of cyclin E expression, the proportion of infiltrative tumours increased, such that almost all cyclin E negative tumours exhibited an exclusively infiltrative growth pattern. This inverse association between cyclin E expression and infiltrative growth was clearly in agreement with our experimental results. Another aspect of this association was that the frequency of cyclin E deregulation differed between specific breast cancer subtypes. Tumours of the medullary subtype consistently expressed high levels of cyclin E whereas the majority of the other main subtypes (i.e. ductal, lobular and tubular) expressed very low levels.

In conclusion, cyclin E overexpression induced an increased S-phase activity and obstructed the invasive capacity of breast cancer cells. From these experiments, it is not possible to determine whether it was cyclin E *per se* or the elevated S-phase activity that impeded the invasive behaviour. Furthermore, the association between cyclin E expression and low-infiltrative tumour growth challenges the current understanding of how cyclin E relates to aggressive tumour behaviour. Deregulated cell cycle control and increased proliferation are obviously traits associated with aggressive tumours, whereas decreased invasive behaviour is not. Hence, these results imply a more complex function of cyclin E in breast cancer biology.

Prognostic implications of the association between cyclin E expression and tumour growth pattern in premenopausal breast cancer (paper II)

Various conclusions have been reached concerning the prognostic relevance of cyclin E expression in breast cancer (Porter et al., 2006; Sieuwerts et al., 2006), and a major reason underlying the discrepancies might be the differences between the tumour samples studied. To obtain prognostic information one needs to analyse tumours from patients that have not received adjuvant treatment after surgery. Such patient cohorts are not obtainable today, since a majority of breast cancer patients receive adjuvant endocrine- and/or chemotherapy. Therefore, retrospective studies of well-characterised patient cohorts with tumours from systemically untreated patients are the only means to determine whether cyclin E confers pure prognostic information rather than treatment predictive information. In light of our findings in paper I, we proceeded to investigate whether the association between cyclin E protein expression and tumour growth pattern in breast cancer could contribute to a more detailed understanding of the prognostic relevance of cyclin E. For this purpose, we analysed a patient cohort consisting of 288 stage II primary breast cancers from premenopausal women not subjected to any adjuvant treatment. The entire cohort consisted of 564 patients that were enrolled in a clinical trial of adjuvant tamoxifen treatment; hence in addition to the prognostic analysis, we evaluated the relevance of cyclin E as a predictor of tamoxifen response.

Cyclin E protein expression was determined immunohistochemically, scoring the fraction of positive nuclei. In this cohort, 33.5% of the tumours were negative for cyclin E, 26.5% expressed low levels (<10% positive nuclei) and 40% expressed high levels of cyclin E (>10%). Regarding the distribution of growth patterns, 74% exhibited an exclusively infiltrative growth, 13% were predominately infiltrative, 10% were predominately pushing and 3% of the tumours presented an exclusively pushing growth pattern. 83% (44/53) of the predominately/exclusively pushing tumours expressed high levels of cyclin E, reiterating in detail the general observation in paper I. These low-infiltrative, pushing tumours were further characterised by larger tumour size, negative lymph node status, histological grade 3, and hormone receptor negativity. Approximately 40% of these tumours had been classified as medullary carcinomas. In addition, the pushing tumours exhibited a better prognosis as estimated by the rate of recurrence free survival (RFS), compared to tumours with an infiltrative growth pattern. Recently, it has been shown that there is a clear overlap between medullary breast carcinomas, BRCA1-mutation dependent tumours and tumours with a basal-like gene expression profile (Bertucci et al., 2006; Chappuis et al., 2005; Foulkes et al., 2004). Our observations suggest that a high cyclin E protein level is another feature shared by tumours belonging to this putative subgroup.

When analysing the association between cyclin E and RFS in the total cohort of untreated patients, we did not find any significant correlation. However, considering the high frequency of cyclin E overexpression among the less aggressive tumours with pushing growth features, this might not be surprising. Indeed, when focusing on the patients whose tumours exhibited an infiltrative growth pattern, a majority of all patients, we found a significant correlation between increased cyclin E protein levels and poor outcome. Furthermore, in this major subgroup of patients, cyclin E protein levels contributed prognostic information independently of histological grade, lymph node status and tumour size. In the total cohort, cyclin E overexpression was almost exclusively associated with a high rate of proliferation (reflected by a high fraction of Ki67 staining, unpublished result), but apparently this did not always translate into more aggressive tumour behaviour. Speculatively, this might be explained by the inability of certain tumours to simultaneously combine a high level of proliferation with the process of invasion. The experimental results from paper I, where ectopic cyclin E expression induced both increased S-phase activity and decreased ability to invade, leading to a less infiltrative tumour growth. Following this line of reasoning, the most aggressive tumours would have acquired abilities that enable them to avoid or override the proliferative constraints on infiltrative behaviour.

The second part of this study dealt with the association between cyclin E expression and antioestrogen treatment response. There are experimental results indicating that cyclin E overexpression has a negative effect on tamoxifen response, and in one study high levels of cyclin E mRNA were reported to correlate with a poorer response to treatment (Dhillon and Mudryj, 2002; Span et al., 2003). An inherent problem of studying cyclin E and anti-oestrogen response is the fact that cyclin E overexpression in breast tumours is strongly correlated with hormone receptor negativity. Since it is the hormone receptor positive patients that are given endocrine therapy, the group of tamoxifen-treated patients with cyclin E-high tumours will generally be relatively small. When analysing the relation between cyclin E expression and tamoxifen response in the ER positive group in this cohort, we did not observe any correlation between increasing levels of cyclin E expression and a poorer treatment response.

Detailing the relation between cell cycle activities and migration – a specific role for cyclin D1 in modulating migratory capacity (paper III)

Based on our previous observations of a negative association between proliferative activity and motility/invasion, we set out to investigate in more detail how the migratory capacity relates to cell cycle activities. Initially, by culturing MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells in serum free medium followed by serum stimulation, we established populations synchronised at successive cell cycle phases, ranging from a resting G0 population to a population dominated by actively cycling S-phase cells. In order to assess whether the different synchronised populations differed in regard to migratory capacity, we needed a method that could quantify migratory potential without significantly affecting cell cycle characteristics. Boyden migration chambers were found to be suitable for this purpose, since the highly motile MDA-MB-231 cells only required 3h in the migration chambers to generate quantifiable migration data. We reasoned that 3h in the migration chambers should not cause a major change in the cell cycle status of the different populations. The migration assays clearly showed a cell cycle specific variation, where cells from the G0- and early-G1 populations migrated significantly faster than cells from the successive populations. When interpreting the migration results, we used an unsynchronised population

The present investigation

as a reference. Asynchronously growing populations contains a mixture of cells in G1, S, G2 and M-phase. Cells corresponding to the resting G0 and early G1-phase cells, present in the synchronised setting, are most likely not found in a continuously cycling population. This difference enabled us to compare the migratory capacity of resting G0/early G1 cells and unsynchronised cells.

As mentioned in Paper III, stimulating starved cells with serum will trigger signalling through several pathways, where the MAP kinase pathway is but one. The activated signalling cascades could induce different phenotypic responses that do not necessarily have to be related. This fact made it somewhat problematic to derive a simple causal connection between the observed concomitant changes in cell cycle progression and migratory capacity. However, some observations are in favour of an explicit connection between cell cycle aspects and migration. First, serum starved G0 cells not exposed to serum stimulation prior to the migration assays displayed significantly increased migration compared to actively cycling, unsynchronised cells. Further, when inhibiting ERK1/2 in synchronised cells (compare U0126 treated cells in Figure 2C with the reference level). Finally, the main finding in paper I, where cyclin E overexpression induced an increased S-phase fraction and decreased motility and invasiveness, supports the notion that the poorest migratory capacity displayed by the S-phase dominated populations was causally affected by the S-phase activities.

Cyclin D1 is important for cells to progress through G1 and later to enter into S-phase. One could speculate that silencing of cyclin D1 using siRNA in an asynchronously growing population would induce a cell cycle shift towards the G1-phase, thereby potentially affecting the overall migratory capacity of the population. It seems unlikely, though, that removal of cyclin D1 would result in an accumulation of G0/early G1 cells. By using this approach we aimed, primarily, to study if G1 cells in an unsynchronised population displayed a relatively higher migratory capacity. In addition, we would obtain information regarding the specific impact of cyclin D1 on migratory behaviour. Knocking down cyclin D1 in MDA-MB-231 cells not only caused a G1 accumulation, but also increased ERK1/2 phosphorylation and, interestingly, induced an increased migratory potential. The results from the migration assays varied substantially but, nonetheless, upon repeating the experiment we obtained a significant difference. Importantly, we also observed an increased migratory capacity when silencing cyclin D1 in an independent cell line, MDA-MB-435. However, in MDA-MB-435 cells, neither the cell cycle phase distribution nor ERK1/2 activity was substantially affected by cyclin D1 knock-down. Furthermore, CDK4/6 silencing in MDA-MB-231 did not result in increased migration, despite a G1-phase accumulation and increased ERK1/2 phosphorylation. Taken together, these results indicated that increasing the fraction of G1 cells did not affect the general migratory capacity of the population. The results also indicated that the increased migration upon cyclin D1 knock-down was likely mediated via mechanisms unrelated to both cell cycle regulation and ERK1/2 activity. The lack of a migratory increase upon CDK4/6 silencing further suggested that cyclin D1 influenced the migratory capacity in a CDK independent manner.

The finding, obtained from two independent cell lines, of a novel and CDK-independent function of cyclin D1 in restraining tumour cell migration, is interesting. How cyclin D1 mechanistically restrains cell migration needs to be further investigated. Regarding this question, the transcriptional functions of cyclin D1 might be of importance and will be addressed in future studies. Our results are opposite to the findings of two reports showing that *cyclin D1-/-* mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs) and mouse mammary epithelial cells (MECs) have a reduced capacity to migrate (Li et al., 2006a; Li et al., 2006b). Expression of cyclin D1 in these cells resulted in an increased movement velocity. There could be several reasons for the discrepancy between these results and ours. First of all, genetically modified MEFs and MECs that are adapted to the absence of cyclin D1 most likely present an overall different behaviour compared to established, cyclin D1 expressing human breast cancer cells. This makes a comparison of the two experimental systems problematic. Secondly, the conflicting effects of cyclin D1 on migration are probably mediated by distinct mechanisms. Cyclin D1 modulated the migratory capacity in the mouse cells through CDK4 and p27, whereas in MDA-MB-231 cells, both CDK4/6 and p27 were of no obvious relevance.

The main findings in this study indicated that cyclin D1 is able to affect both migratory capacity and proliferative activity. To investigate possible *in vivo* characteristics that would reflect this dual function of cyclin D1, we performed an immunohistochemical analysis of cyclin D1 in a large breast cancer cohort consisting of tumours from premenopausal patients (the same material as in paper II). Cyclin D1 expression was scored as nuclear intensity, and in this material, increasing cyclin D1 staining intensity not only correlated with higher proliferation, but also with smaller tumour size. Since tumours size reflects several tumour biological properties, including local tumour infiltration, the inverse link between cyclin D1 and tumour size was considered interesting. Extrapolation of our experimental results would hence imply that high levels of cyclin D1 would confer hampered local tumour spread. Theoretically, this interpretation might then explain why cyclin D1-high tumours tended to be smaller. In addition, tumours with the highest cyclin D1 expression seemed to be overrepresented among tumours with a less infiltrative growth appearance, supporting the notion that cyclin D1 influences infiltrative behaviour in vivo.

When we analysed the prognostic information of cyclin D1 protein levels in untreated ER+ premenopausal breast cancer patients, strong cyclin D1 staining intensity correlated with a better prognosis. Cyclin D1 intensity together with Ki67 expression could successfully define subgroups of patients with significantly different outcome, as measured by the rate of recurrence free survival. Intermediate-strong cyclin D1/low Ki67 expression was the most favourable combination while absent-low cyclin D1/high Ki67 expression correlated with the poorest outcome. In other words, tumours consisting of highly proliferative cells lacking the putative migratory constraints of stronger cyclin D1 expression appeared to be the most aggressive.

Supplementary background to Paper III

For the sake of this thesis, I would finally like to present a series of performed experiments that initially showed truly interesting results. At the last minute, unfortunately, these results had

The present investigation

to be omitted from the manuscript (Paper III) due to serious problems with off-target effects related to the pool of siRNA oligos originally used to silence cyclin D1. This experience necessitated a revision of the siRNA experiments, some of which could be repeated with a modified setting (presented in Paper III). To show the full extent of my work and to understand the circumstances that led to the discovery of the off-target effects, I will here go through the original experiments and briefly discuss some general considerations regarding RNAi.

One objection to Figure 1 in Paper III was that the progression from G0/G1 to S-phase and the concomitant decrease in migratory ability could be independent consequences of serum stimulation. In an attempt to show a causal link between the changes in migratory ability and cell cycle activities, I attempted to exclusively interfere with the cell cycle progression by knocking down cyclin D1 and E in starved cells prior to serum stimulation. In these original experiments, pools consisting of four different siRNA oligos were used to target the respective cyclins. The changes in migratory capacity after serum stimulation were then monitored in control cells and cells with silenced cyclin expression. As expected, the migratory ability of the synchronised control cells was reduced substantially as they progressed into S-phase. Importantly, the cyclin D1 and E silenced cells with an obstructed S-phase entry presented a significantly smaller reduction in migratory ability (Supplementary Figure 1A-C). This partial rescue in migratory capacity did, at least, provide support for a true cell cycle component contributing to the net migratory capacity.

The partial migratory rescue observed warranted us to test whether the cyclins might be directly involved in modulating the migratory capacity. Cyclin D1 and E were therefore knocked down in unsynchronised cells and the effect on migratory capacity was assessed. Transfections with both siRNA pools reduced the cyclins very efficiently and caused a three-fold increase in migratory ability. Seemingly, this effect was mainly cyclin D1 dependent, since silencing of cyclin E alone only resulted in a minor migratory increase (Supplementary Figure 2A-C). In addition, the original cyclin D1 siRNA pool showed an even greater impact on MDA-MB-435 melanoma cell migration, although the effect varied substantially between experiments (Supplementary Figure 2D-E).

As presented in Paper III, we addressed the involvement of ERK1/2 activity in both cell cycle regulation and migration. In conformity with the result presented in Figure 3A in Paper III, knock-down of cyclin D1 with the original siRNA pool increased ERK1/2 phosphorylation. However, when we initially analysed the possibility that ERK1/2 mediated the link between cyclin D1 and migratory capacity, we obtained different results (Supplementary Figure 3A-B). Clearly, the absolute level of migration was decreased when ERK1/2 were inhibited, but the cyclin D1 silenced cells still presented significantly increased migration compared to control siRNA treated cells. Seemingly, this indicated more directly that the assumed impact of cyclin D1 on migration was not dependent on ERK1/2 activity.

Knock-down of the cyclin D1 associated CDKs further suggested that cyclin D1 modulated migration through kinase-independent mechanisms. To proceed in our investigation of how the original cyclin D1 siRNA pool affected MDA-MB-231 cell migration, we conducted a microar-

ray experiment. The possibility that cyclin D1 could affect cellular behaviour through altering gene expression is supported by the fact that cyclin D1 interacts with several transcription factors (Coqueret, 2002). The most prominent transcriptional difference between control and cyclin D1 siRNA treated cells was, as expected, related to cell cycle associated functions, but no specific gene category coupled to the processes of migration or motility was significantly affected. However, many genes involved in microtubule-based processes were significantly down regulated as a result of cyclin D1 knock-down (Supplementary Figure 4B). The microtubule cytoskeleton is involved in various cellular processes, including cytoskeletal rearrangements implicated in migration (Kodama et al., 2004). In addition, we identified specific, differentially expressed genes whose protein products are involved in focal adhesion turnover, actin polymerisation and membrane cytoskeleton contacts; genes considered relevant in the context of migration (Supplementary Figure 4C). Taken together, the gene expression analysis did not provide us with any obvious answer to why the original cyclin D1 siRNA pool affected migration. Nonetheless, the altered expression of microtubule-related genes and the list of migration associated genes were considered interesting and worth further investigations.

To establish the assumed role of cyclin D1 in modulating migratory capacity, we tried to overexpress cyclin D1 in MDA-MB-231 cells. Cyclin D1 was successfully overexpressed but, contrary to our expectations, no decrease in the migratory capacity was observed. We therefore planned an alternative approach in order to study the supposed negative impact of cyclin D1 on migration. In principle, the increased migration induced by silencing endogenous cyclin D1 should be reverted if cyclin D1 was simultaneously overexpressed. This would be possible to test since two of the oligos in the siRNA pool (#17 and 18) targeted the 3' untranslated region. This region is present in the endogenous cyclin D1 mRNA but is not part of the cyclin D1 mRNA transcribed from the expression vector. As a starting point, we analysed if these two oligos had the same phenotypic effect as the original pool of four (#15, 16, 17, 18). Surprisingly, even though the two oligos knocked down cyclin D1 with a comparable efficiency as the pool of four, they did not induce the same strong increase in migration. It later turned out that the three-fold increase seen in the initial experiments was mainly attributable to one oligo (#15). Because all four oligos knocked down cyclin D1 equally well, but only one single oligo induced a major increase in migration, our previous conclusions regarding the ability of cyclin D1 to modulate the migratory capacity could not be entirely correct. In an attempt to ascertain whether cyclin D1 still could affect migratory behaviour, we decided to repeat the siRNA experiments without oligo #15. The results and conclusions from these efforts are presented in Paper III and have been discussed above.

Our experience reflects the general problem with off-target effects that is inevitably attached to the present state of the RNAi methodology. Determining the specificity of an siRNA oligo is a very complex matter that is affected by several parameters, many of which are still unknown. Currently, there is no algorithm that can be used to design siRNA oligos without undesired offtargets. With the exception of near-perfect sequence identity, overall sequence identity between an siRNA and any given mRNA seems to be a poor predictor of the number and identity of

The present investigation

off-target genes. One parameter that has recently been shown to be associated with off-targeting is the siRNA seed region-3'UTR match (Birmingham et al., 2006). The seed region consists of six or seven nucleotides at the 5' end of the siRNA guide strand (positions 2-7/8). This region is known to be important for endogenous microRNA-target mRNA recognition (Bartel, 2004) and therefore microRNA-mediated gene silencing and siRNA off-targeting might take place through similar mechanisms. In a preliminary search for potential off-target genes in our gene expression analysis, we looked for down-regulated genes with sequences matching oligo #15. One of the down-regulated genes, USP24 (ubiquitin-specific protease 24), actually presented a perfect oligo #15 seed region-3'UTR match. Theoretically, USP24 might therefore be an interesting candidate involved in the elevated migratory capacity observed in the original siRNA experiments. To date, not much is known about the function of this gene and the potential role of USP24 in modulating migration warrants further investigation.

Due to the risk of off-targets, gene functions and phenotypes resulting from siRNA experiments should generally be interpreted with caution. There are some general measures that can be taken in order to mitigate off-targeting (Jackson and Linsley, 2004). It has been shown that the off-target effect is dependent on the concentration of siRNA oligos applied (Persengiev et al., 2004). One should therefore try to reduce the concentration to the lowest possible. Along this line, one suggested approach to reduce the off-target effect is to use pools of siRNAs for the same gene. Combining different oligos, each at a lower concentration, could silence the target gene as efficiently as one oligo at a higher concentration, but with a lower off-target effect. Our experience with siRNA pools clearly demonstrates that, despite the benefits, the risk of offtargeting is still present and should not be underestimated. Maybe the best way to increase the confidence with which a certain phenotype can be ascribed to silencing of a particular target gene is to use different siRNA oligos, or pools of oligos, separately. If the same phenotype is observed with independent oligos it is most likely caused by silencing of their common target gene, since each oligo presents a specific off-target profile.



Supplementary Figure 1. Cyclin D1 and cyclin E were knocked down using the original siRNA pools in starved MDA-MB-231 cells. Protein expression (A), cell cycle phase distributions (B) and migratory capacity (C) were measured after 4h and 20h of serum stimulation. The cells were allowed to migrate for 3h towards a serum gradient. The migration assays were performed at least three times in triplicates. Each spot represents the number of migrating cells from one chamber. The reference level (1.0) represents the normalised mean value of migrating unsynchronised cells.



Supplementary Figure 2. Cyclin D1 and cyclin E were knocked down separately or together, using the original siRNA pools in unsynchronised cells. The first panel shows protein expression (A), cell cycle phase distributions (B) and migratory capacity (C) of MDA-MB-231 cells, analysed 24h post siRNA treatment. The second panel shows cyclin D1 protein expression (D) and migratory capacity (E) of MDA-MB-435 cells 24h post siRNA treatment. The cells were allowed to migrate for 3h towards a serum gradient. The migration assays were performed at least three times in triplicates. Each spot represents the number of migrating cells from one chamber. The reference level (1.0) represents the normalised mean value of migrating unsynchronised cells.



Supplementary Figure 3. The MEK inhibitor U0126 was used to study the role of ERK1/2 activity in the elevated migratory capacity caused by the original cyclin D1 siRNA pool. 20 µM U0126 or solvent (DMSO) was added to the transfected cells 4h before protein harvest and migration assays. (A) ERK1/2 activity was analysed with a phosphospecific ERK1/2 antibody. (B) U0126 was also added to the medium in the migration chambers to make sure that ERK1/2 was inactivated when cells migrated. Migration assays were conducted as in Figure 1 and 2.

> Supplementary Figure 4. In order to study early transcriptional effects induced by the original cyclin D1 siRNA pool, mRNA was harvested 6h and 12h after siRNA treatment. The gene expression profiles at these time points were analysed using the Illumina platform comparing mRNA levels from cyclin D1 silenced cells and control treated cells in triplicates. The analysis was conducted by AROS Applied Biotechnology AS, Århus, Denmark. (A) Successful down-regulation of cyclin D1 mRNA at both time points was validated in the gene expression analysis. E2F1 and CCNA2, two important cell cycle regulatory genes, was also significantly downregulated indicating an early effect on cell cycle activities. (B) Classification of the differentially expressed genes into biologically coherent categories, using the web-based software Gene Ontology Tree Machine, further stressed the impact on cell cycle regulatory functions. The changes are exemplified by the GO-categories 'G1/S transition of mitotic cell cycle', 'cell cycle checkpoint' and 'DNA replication' which all contained a significant number of down regulated genes. In addition, genes related to microtubuli based processes were significantly down regulated at the 12h time point, raising the possibility that the migratory response induced by the cyclin D1 siRNA pool could be mediated by changes in the microtubuli cytoskeleton. (C) From the list of differentially expressed genes, 6 were of specific interest due to their documented connection to migration.

Conclusions

The general conclusion from the conducted experiments is that there exist a link between proliferative activity and migratory capacity. Although this relation is not generally applicable to all malignancies, it might reflect relevant tumour biological characteristics of certain tumours and may be of potential clinical significance.

The more specific conclusions are:

• Cyclin E overexpression in MDA-MB-468 breast cancer cells induces an elevated S-phase fraction and hampers cell motility and invasiveness.

• High levels of cyclin E protein correlate with a low-infiltrative, pushing tumour growth pattern in primary breast cancer.

• High levels of cyclin E protein is significantly more common among medullary breast carcinomas compared to other subtypes.

• Medullary breast carcinomas belong to a subgroup of tumours characterised by a pushing growth pattern, high cyclin E expression, histological grade 3, hormone receptor negativity, larger tumour size and fewer lymph node metastases. These tumours present a relatively favourable prognosis.

• High cyclin E protein levels correlate with a worse prognosis and confer independent prognostic information in the major subgroup of premenopausal patients with tumours exhibiting an infiltrative growth pattern.

• Elevated levels of cyclin E are not associated with a poorer tamoxifen response in premenopausal patients with ER positive disease.

• The migratory capacity of MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells is influenced by their cell cycle position: 1) specific properties of resting G0/early G1 cells render them relatively more migratory; 2) S-phase activities impede migration.

• Silencing of cyclin D1 increases the migratory capacity of MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-435 cells, implying a dual function of cyclin D1 in regulating both cell cycle progression and migratory behaviour.

• High cyclin D1 protein levels correlate with a more favourable prognosis in premenopausal breast cancer patients with ER positive disease.

POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING

Bröstcancer är ett samlingsnamn för ett stort antal sjukdomar som uppvisar väldigt olika egenskaper. Hur allvarlig en viss typ av bröstcancer är bestäms av de specifika genetiska förändringar, mutationer, som tumörcellerna av olika anledningar förvärvar. Generellt för tumörceller är att de drabbats av mutationer som medför att de inte längre beter sig som normala celler. De börjar föröka sig i en alltför snabb takt och slutar svara på signaler som normalt sätt motverkar onödig celldelning. En lokal och begränsad tillväxt utgör oftast inte ett problem i sig. Det är först när tumörcellerna förändras ytterliggare och börjar växa in i omkringliggande vävnad och sprida sig till ställen i kroppen där de inte hör hemma, som det kan bli allvarligt. Denna process kallas metastasering. Nu är det lyckligtvis så att det finns väldigt många naturliga kontrollsystem, både inne i cellen och utanför, som bromsar uppkomsten av okontrollerbart förökande och metastaserande tumörceller. Att cancer huvudsakligen utvecklas först i livets senare skede beror på att dessa kontrollmekanismer, trots allt, fungerar ganska väl. När tumörceller väl har uppkommit avgör, som sagt, deras specifika förändringar hur sjukdomen kommer att utvecklas. Olika tumörers tillväxttakt och spridningssätt kan variera kraftigt och att förstå de genetiska och cellbiologiska orsakerna till dessa variationer, är en utmaning av astronomiska mått.

Min forskning har gått ut på att försöka förstå hur bröstcancerceller lyckas kombinera en hög celldelningstakt med förmågan att migrera, dvs aktivt förflytta sig. Att många aggressiva tumörceller på ett eller annat sätt lyckas med detta är klart. Trots detta så har tidigare observationer i bla tjocktarmscancer och vissa former av hudcancer, pekat på att i vissa lägen motverkar en alltför hög delningstakt tumörcellernas migrationsförmåga. Båda aktiviteter är ytterst komplicerade och är dessutom beroende av liknande intracellulära strukturer. Det är alltså inte otänkbart att en del tumörceller måste koordinera dessa processer och därför kan ha svårigheter att utföra dem samtidigt. Jag har med olika experimentella metoder försökt påvisa att bröstcancercellers delningsaktivitet faktiskt påverkar deras migrationsförmåga. Vidare så har jag analyserat om mina försöksresultat kan användas för att bättre förstå riktiga brösttumörers egenskaper och beteende.

I mitt första arbete stimulerade jag bröstcancerceller att gå in i delningsprocessen genom att höja cellernas uttryck av ett protein som heter cyklin E. Det finns flera varianter av dessa sk cykliner, och gemensamt för många av dem är att de ökar cellernas delningstakt. Cyklin E är ett intressant protein och många studier har visat att höga nivåer av cyklin E är kopplat till aggressivare brösttumörer med sämre sjukdomsprognos. Jag försökte studera om ökade cyklin E nivåer, och därmed ökad celldelningsaktivitet, förändrade cellernas migrationsegenskaper. Det visade sig att jämfört med kontrollbehandlade celler, så hade de cyklin E-överuttryckande cellerna en minskad förmåga att aktivt förflytta sig. Dessa resultat verkade alltså stödja idén om att någonting i celldelningsprocessen motverkar cellernas rörelseförmåga. Detta gjorde oss nyfikna på om det kunde finnas samvariationer mellan riktiga brösttumörers lokala spridningssätt och deras cyklin E uttryck. Vi spekulerade att om höga nivåer av cyklin E och en hög celldelningsaktivitet faktiskt motverkar tumörcellernas migrationsförmåga, då borde brösttumörer med ett högt cyklin E-uttryck uppvisa en mindre lokal spridning. Vi analyserade flera hundra brösttumörer och försökte gradera varje tumörs "infiltrativa" växtsätt. Intressant nog så fann vi ett tydligt samband mellan ett mindre infiltrativt växtsätt, dvs en mer lokalt begränsad tumörspridning, och ökade cyklin E nivåer. Dessa observationer pekade på att cyklin E var både kopplat till en ökad celldelningstakt och ett mer begränsat växtsätt i riktiga brösttumörer.

I det andra arbetet undersökte vi hur kopplingen mellan cyklin E-nivåerna och tumörväxtsättet påverkade brösttumörernas aggressivitet. Som jag nämnde ovan, så har flera studier visat att höga nivåer av cyklin E i tumörerna generellt sätt leder till en sämre prognos. I det tumörmaterial som vi analyserade så fanns det som sagt en klar koppling mellan höga cyklin E nivåer och ett mindre infiltrativt växtsätt. Det visade sig dock att det fanns en hel del cyklin E-höga tumörer som trots allt växte väldigt infiltrativt. Det viktiga med denna studie var att vi kunde visa på att inte alla patienter med cyklin E-höga tumörer hade en dålig prognos. Den grupp av patienter vars tumörer uttryckte mycket cyklin E och samtidigt växte mer begränsat, uppvisade en relativt sätt bättre prognos.

I mitt sista arbete så ville vi mer detaljerat studera hur tumörcellers delningsaktivitet relaterade till deras migrationsförmåga. För att kunna göra detta behandlade jag först tumörceller så att de gick in i ett sk vilande stadium, med väldigt låg delningsaktivitet. Dessa celler stimulerades därefter så att de samordnat började dela sig mer aktivt. Jag försökte sedan mäta om migrationsförmågan skiljde sig mellan de vilande cellerna och de aktivt delande cellerna. Genom detta försöksupplägg så kunde vi konstatera att de vilande, icke delande cellerna hade en högre migrationskapacitet jämfört med de aktivt delande cellerna. För att studera detta fenomen vidare så hämmade vi uttrycket av proteiner som är viktiga i celldelningsprocessen och analyserade om cellernas migrationskapacitet ändrades. Vi lyckades sakta ner celldelningstakten till viss del men vi kunde inte mäta någon större migrationsskillnad. Detta skulle kunna bero på att celldelningstakten inte bromsades upp tillräckligt mycket. Ett av de proteiner som vi hämmade var cyklin D1. Både cyklin D1 och cyklin E är viktiga för att reglera cellernas delning. När uttrycket av cyklin D1 trycktes ner så gjorde vi en mycket oväntad och intressant observation. Med lägre nivåer av cyklin D1 fick cellerna en högre förmåga att migrera. Det visade sig att cyklin D1 verkade kunna påverka cellernas migrationskapacitet på ett sätt som inte hade att göra med proteinets roll i celldelningsprocessen. Vi följde upp detta fynd genom att återigen studera om det var skillnader i riktiga brösttumörer beroende på deras cyklin D1 nivåer. Cyklin D1-höga tumörer hade generellt en fortare tillväxttakt men verkade samtidigt bli något mindre. En tolkning av denna något motsägelsefulla observation, var att trots att tumörcellerna delade sig fortare så gjorde de höga cyklin D1-nivåerna att de samtidigt spred sig långsammare. Sammantaget skulle detta kunna förklara varför dessa tumörer som helhet blev mindre. Vidare kunde vi se att patienter med cyklin D1-höga tumörer faktiskt hade en bättre sjukdomsutveckling jämfört med patienter med cyklin D1-låga tumörer.

I mitt arbete så har jag alltså påvisat att tumörcellers delningsaktivitet kan hämma deras migrationsförmåga. Jag har vidare sett att detta förhållande skulle kunna förklara vissa brösttumörers beteende. Mina resultat visar också på en ny intressant funktion hos cyklin D1. Pusselbitar som förhoppningsvis ökar kunskapen om tumörers skrämmande men fascinerande biologi.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Department of Laboratory Medicine, Center for Molecular Pathology, Lund University, Malmö University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden.

Financial support was provided by the Swedish Cancer Society, Gunnar, Arvid and Elisabeth Nilsson Cancer Foundation, the Royal Physiographical Society of Sweden, Lund University Research Funds, Per-Eric and Ulla Schybergs Foundation, Malmö University Hospital Research and Cancer Funds, Swedish Research Council and Swegene/Wallenberg Consortium North.

De långa stunderna av motigt labbande har då och då kryddats med euforiska ögonblick då man nästan har fått känslan av att vara något riktigt verkligt på spåren. Många har på olika sätt bidragit till att göra min 5-åriga tid på patologens lab till en mycket intressant upplevelse. Funderingar kring vetenskapliga problem och utmaningar har varvats med lättsammare ämnen och uppiggande skvaller. Jag har flera att tacka för detta, inte minst:

Göran Landberg, min huvudhandledare. Med din sympatiska attityd och generösa inställning har jag lärt mig mycket om forskningsvärlden. Jag är väldigt tacksam för att jag fått prova egna idéer och experimentera fritt efter eget huvud, jag vågar inte ens tänka på vad allt egentligen har kostat! Att doktorera är som sagt en utbildning och som medlem i din grupp har jag med tiden utvecklat mina egna uppfattningar om forskningen - uppfattningar som inte alltid överensstämt med dina. Men, som den sanna dialektiker jag är så är jag övertygad om att det är motsättningarna som driver tänkandet framåt! Tack för en spännande tid.

Ingrid Hedenfalk, min bihandledare. Ett sant nöje att få arbeta med dig under de första åren. Av olika anledningar blev det inte mer laborativt samarbete, men otaliga är de tillfällen som jag mailat dig manuskriptutkast för att få oberoende synpunkter och inte minst för språkliga förbättringar. Tack för all hjälp och stöd du gett!

Tidagare och nuvarande medlemmar i patologlabbet: Maria, Åsa, Sofie, Jenny, Rebecka, Mia, Signe, Karin, Lisa, Jenny P, Christina, Ulla, Elise, Martin, Tina, Carro, Eva, Katja, Sophie L, Sophie N, Nick, Åsa, Anna. I min nuvarande tankspriddhet har jag säkert glömt flera, men jag tar tillfället i akt och tackar även er. Jag vill särskilt utbringa ett hurra för: Maria, för en synnerligen god introduktion i labbet och gott samarbete; Carro, för alla roliga stunder i labbet, på konferenser och inte minst de många barnvagnsrundorna på senare tid; Tina, för långt gemensamt slitande i labbet med tillhörande frustrationer och allmänt pyssel; Sophie L, för din positiva och ambitiösa inställning - stafettpinnen är din, lycka till!!; Eva&Katja, skrivrummets radarpar som alltid lyckas med att lätta upp stämningen; Nick, for brave and glorious contributions to the project; Christina, för det trevliga umgänget och för all hjälp med det praktiska på labbet; Elise, för enastående effektivitet med all immunohistokemi; Karin, för givande samarbete och roliga stunder - funderar fortfarande över dina outgrundliga motiv med forskningen!; Martin, för din

entusiasm, din fantastiska introduktion till obduktionskällarens fascinerande värld, din humor och för gemensamma intressen - ser fram emot framtida paddlingar i Fjällbackas skärgård!

Kristin & Inger, labbets administrativa fundament. Tack för era ovärderliga insatser!

Alla övriga kolleger i huset för trevliga luncher och intressanta onsdagsmöten. Ett skånskt hurra går till: Jonas, för att du axlat rollen som innebandysamordnare; Erik, för din microarrayexpertis; Lovisa, för ditt smittande positiva sätt och fenomenala organisationssinne; Håkan, för alla squashmatcher som förgyllt tiden på labbet och för vårt gemensamma agg mot slipsar och stadsjeepar! Som äkta sportsman erbjuder jag dig framtida tillfällen att reducera min knappa men svårintagna ledning.

Lisa & Ida, min underbara lilla familj som hjälpt mig sätta avhandlingsarbetet i ett sunt perspektiv. Ni gör allting så mycket mer meningfullt här i livet!

REFERENCES

Adams, J.C., and J. Lawler. 2004. The thrombospondins. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 36:961-8.

- Adriance, M.C., J.L. Inman, O.W. Petersen, and M.J. Bissell. 2005. Myoepithelial cells: good fences make good neighbors. Breast Cancer Res. 7:190-7.
- Al-Hajj, M., M.S. Wicha, A. Benito-Hernandez, S.J. Morrison, and M.F. Clarke. 2003. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 100:3983-8.
- Aleem, E., H. Kiyokawa, and P. Kaldis. 2005. Cdc2-cyclin E complexes regulate the G1/S phase transition. Nat Cell Biol. 7:831-6.
- Assoian, R.K., and M.A. Schwartz. 2001. Coordinate signaling by integrins and receptor tyrosine kinases in the regulation of G1 phase cell-cycle progression. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 11:48-53.
- Baldin, V., J. Lukas, M.J. Marcote, M. Pagano, and G. Draetta. 1993. Cyclin D1 is a nuclear protein required for cell cycle progression in G1. Genes Dev. 7:812-21.
- Bartek, J., J. Bartkova, and J. Lukas. 1996. The retinoblastoma protein pathway and the restriction point. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 8:805-14.
- Bartel, D.P. 2004. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell. 116:281-97.
- BCLC. 1997. Pathology of familial breast cancer: differences between breast cancers in carriers of BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations and sporadic cases. Breast Cancer Linkage Consortium. Lancet. 349:1505-10.
- Berthet, C., E. Aleem, V. Coppola, L. Tessarollo, and P. Kaldis. 2003. Cdk2 knockout mice are viable. Curr Biol. 13:1775-85.
- Bertucci, F., P. Finetti, N. Cervera, E. Charafe-Jauffret, E. Mamessier, J. Adelaide, S. Debono, G. Houvenaeghel, D. Maraninchi, P. Viens, C. Charpin, J. Jacquemier, and D. Birnbaum. 2006. Gene expression profiling shows medullary breast cancer is a subgroup of basal breast cancers. Cancer Res. 66:4636-44.
- Birmingham, A., E.M. Anderson, A. Reynolds, D. Ilsley-Tyree, D. Leake, Y. Fedorov, S. Baskerville, E. Maksimova, K. Robinson, J. Karpilow, W.S. Marshall, and A. Khvorova. 2006. 3' UTR seed matches, but not overall identity, are associated with RNAi off-targets. Nat Methods. 3:199-204.
- Bohmer, R.M., E. Scharf, and R.K. Assoian. 1996. Cytoskeletal integrity is required throughout the mitogen stimulation phase of the cell cycle and mediates the anchorage-dependent expression of cyclin D1. Mol Biol Cell. 7:101-111.

- Borg, A., A.K. Tandon, H. Sigurdsson, G.M. Clark, M. Ferno, S.A. Fuqua, D. Killander, and W.L. McGuire. 1990. HER-2/neu amplification predicts poor survival in node-positive breast cancer. Cancer Res. 50:4332-7.
- Bortner, D.M., and M.P. Rosenberg. 1997. Induction of mammary gland hyperplasia and carcinomas in transgenic mice expressing human cyclin E. Mol Cell Biol. 17:453-9.
- Callagy, G., P. Pharoah, S.F. Chin, T. Sangan, Y. Daigo, L. Jackson, and C. Caldas. 2005. Identification and validation of prognostic markers in breast cancer with the complementary use of array-CGH and tissue microarrays. J Pathol. 205:388-96.
- Chappuis, P.O., E. Donato, J.R. Goffin, N. Wong, L.R. Begin, L.R. Kapusta, J.S. Brunet, P. Porter, and W.D. Foulkes. 2005. Cyclin E expression in breast cancer: predicting germline BRCA1 mutations, prognosis and response to treatment. Ann Oncol. 16:735-42.
- Chen, Z., V.B. Indjeian, M. McManus, L. Wang, and B.D. Dynlacht. 2002. CP110, a cell cycle-dependent CDK substrate, regulates centrosome duplication in human cells. Dev Cell. 3:339-50.
- Ciemerych, M.A., A.M. Kenney, E. Sicinska, I. Kalaszczynska, R.T. Bronson, D.H. Rowitch, H. Gardner, and P. Sicinski. 2002. Development of mice expressing a single D-type cyclin. Genes Dev. 16:3277-89.
- Clarke, R.B. 2003. Steroid receptors and proliferation in the human breast. Steroids. 68:789-94.
- Clarke, R.B., E. Anderson, and A. Howell. 2004. Steroid receptors in human breast cancer. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 15:316-23.
- Clarke, R.B., A. Howell, C.S. Potten, and E. Anderson. 1997. Dissociation between steroid receptor expression and cell proliferation in the human breast. Cancer Res. 57:4987-91.
- Classon, M., and E. Harlow. 2002. The retinoblastoma tumour suppressor in development and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2:910-7.
- Coleman, M.L., C.J. Marshall, and M.F. Olson. 2004. RAS and RHO GTPases in G1-phase cell-cycle regulation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 5:355-66.
- Condeelis, J., J. Jones, and J.E. Segall. 1992. Chemotaxis of metastatic tumor cells: clues to mechanisms from the Dictyostelium paradigm. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 11:55-68.
- Condeelis, J., R.H. Singer, and J.E. Segall. 2005. The great escape: when cancer cells hijack the genes for chemotaxis and motility. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 21:695-718.
- Coqueret, O. 2002. Linking cyclins to transcriptional control. Gene. 299:35-55.
- Corcoran, A., and R.F. Del Maestro. 2003. Testing the "Go or Grow" hypothesis in human medulloblastoma cell lines in two and three dimensions. Neurosurgery. 53:174-84;

discussion 184-5.

- Courjal, F., G. Louason, P. Speiser, D. Katsaros, R. Zeillinger, and C. Theillet. 1996. Cyclin gene amplification and overexpression in breast and ovarian cancers: evidence for the selection of cyclin D1 in breast and cyclin E in ovarian tumors. Int J Cancer. 69:247-53.
- Croft, D.R., and M.F. Olson. 2006. The Rho GTPase effector ROCK regulates cyclin A, cyclin D1, and p27Kip1 levels by distinct mechanisms. Mol Cell Biol. 26:4612-27.
- Cross, D.A., D.R. Alessi, P. Cohen, M. Andjelkovich, and B.A. Hemmings. 1995. Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B. Nature. 378:785-9.
- del Pozo, M.A., L.S. Price, N.B. Alderson, X.D. Ren, and M.A. Schwartz. 2000. Adhesion to the extracellular matrix regulates the coupling of the small GTPase Rac to its effector PAK. Embo J. 19:2008-14.
- Dhillon, N.K., and M. Mudryj. 2002. Ectopic expression of cyclin E in estrogen responsive cells abrogates antiestrogen mediated growth arrest. Oncogene. 21:4626-34.
- Diehl, J.A., M. Cheng, M.F. Roussel, and C.J. Sherr. 1998. Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta regulates cyclin D1 proteolysis and subcellular localization. Genes Dev. 12:3499-511.
- Donnellan, R., and R. Chetty. 1998. Cyclin D1 and human neoplasia. Mol Pathol. 51:1-7.
- Donnellan, R., I. Kleinschmidt, and R. Chetty. 2001. Cyclin E immunoexpression in breast ductal carcinoma: pathologic correlations and prognostic implications. Hum Pathol. 32:89-94.
- Dontu, G., M. Al-Hajj, W.M. Abdallah, M.F. Clarke, and M.S. Wicha. 2003. Stem cells in normal breast development and breast cancer. Cell Prolif. 36 Suppl 1:59-72.
- Dyson, N. 1998. The regulation of E2F by pRB-family proteins. Genes Dev. 12:2245-62.
- Dyson, N., P.M. Howley, K. Munger, and E. Harlow. 1989. The human papilloma virus-16 E7 oncoprotein is able to bind to the retinoblastoma gene product. Science. 243:934-7.
- EBCTCG. 1998. Tamoxifen for early breast cancer: an overview of the randomised trials. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group. Lancet. 351:1451-67.
- Eisinger, F., J. Jacquemier, C. Charpin, D. Stoppa-Lyonnet, B. Bressac-de Paillerets, J.P. Peyrat, M. Longy, J.M. Guinebretiere, R. Sauvan, T. Noguchi, D. Birnbaum, and H. Sobol. 1998. Mutations at BRCA1: the medullary breast carcinoma revisited. Cancer Res. 58:1588-92.
- Elston, C.W., and I.O. Ellis. 1991. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. Histopathology. 19:403-10.

- Foulkes, W.D., J.S. Brunet, I.M. Stefansson, O. Straume, P.O. Chappuis, L.R. Begin, N. Hamel, J.R. Goffin, N. Wong, M. Trudel, L. Kapusta, P. Porter, and L.A. Akslen. 2004. The prognostic implication of the basal-like (cyclin E high/p27 low/p53+/glomeruloidmicrovascular-proliferation+) phenotype of BRCA1-related breast cancer. Cancer Res. 64:830-5.
- Friedl, P., P.B. Noble, P.A. Walton, D.W. Laird, P.J. Chauvin, R.J. Tabah, M. Black, and K.S. Zanker. 1995. Migration of coordinated cell clusters in mesenchymal and epithelial cancer explants in vitro. Cancer Res. 55:4557-60.
- Friedl, P., and K. Wolf. 2003. Tumour-cell invasion and migration: diversity and escape mechanisms. Nat Rev Cancer. 3:362-74.
- Gaubatz, S., G.J. Lindeman, S. Ishida, L. Jakoi, J.R. Nevins, D.M. Livingston, and R.E. Rempel. 2000. E2F4 and E2F5 play an essential role in pocket protein-mediated G1 control. Mol Cell. 6:729-35.
- Geng, Y., Y.M. Lee, M. Welcker, J. Swanger, A. Zagozdzon, J.D. Winer, J.M. Roberts, P. Kaldis, B.E. Clurman, and P. Sicinski. 2007. Kinase-independent function of cyclin E. Mol Cell. 25:127-39.
- Geng, Y., Q. Yu, E. Sicinska, M. Das, J.E. Schneider, S. Bhattacharya, W.M. Rideout, R.T. Bronson, H. Gardner, and P. Sicinski. 2003. Cyclin E ablation in the mouse. Cell. 114:431-43.
- Giacinti, C., and A. Giordano. 2006. RB and cell cycle progression. Oncogene. 25:5220-7.
- Giancotti, F.G., and E. Ruoslahti. 1999. Integrin signaling. Science. 285:1028-32.
- Giese, A., M.A. Loo, N. Tran, D. Haskett, S.W. Coons, and M.E. Berens. 1996. Dichotomy of astrocytoma migration and proliferation. Int J Cancer. 67:275-82.
- Gillett, C., V. Fantl, R. Smith, C. Fisher, J. Bartek, C. Dickson, D. Barnes, and G. Peters. 1994. Amplification and overexpression of cyclin D1 in breast cancer detected by immunohistochemical staining. Cancer Res. 54:1812-7.
- Gillett, C., P. Smith, W. Gregory, M. Richards, R. Millis, G. Peters, and D. Barnes. 1996. Cyclin D1 and prognosis in human breast cancer. Int J Cancer. 69:92-9.
- Guarino, M., B. Rubino, and G. Ballabio. 2007. The role of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cancer pathology. Pathology. 39:305-18.
- Gudjonsson, T., R. Villadsen, H.L. Nielsen, L. Ronnov-Jessen, M.J. Bissell, and O.W. Petersen. 2002. Isolation, immortalization, and characterization of a human breast epithelial cell line with stem cell properties. Genes Dev. 16:693-706.
- Guo, W., and F.G. Giancotti. 2004. Integrin signalling during tumour progression. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 5:816-26.

- Hagel, M., E.L. George, A. Kim, R. Tamimi, S.L. Opitz, C.E. Turner, A. Imamoto, and S.M. Thomas. 2002. The adaptor protein paxillin is essential for normal development in the mouse and is a critical transducer of fibronectin signaling. Mol Cell Biol. 22:901-15.
- Han, S., K. Park, B.N. Bae, K.H. Kim, H.J. Kim, Y.D. Kim, and H.Y. Kim. 2003. Prognostic implication of cyclin E expression and its relationship with cyclin D1 and p27Kip1 expression on tissue microarrays of node negative breast cancer. J Surg Oncol. 83:241-7.
- Harbour, J.W., R.X. Luo, A. Dei Santi, A.A. Postigo, and D.C. Dean. 1999. Cdk phosphorylation triggers sequential intramolecular interactions that progressively block Rb functions as cells move through G1. Cell. 98:859-69.
- Hegerfeldt, Y., M. Tusch, E.B. Brocker, and P. Friedl. 2002. Collective cell movement in primary melanoma explants: plasticity of cell-cell interaction, beta1-integrin function, and migration strategies. Cancer Res. 62:2125-30.
- Hsieh, A.C., and M.M. Moasser. 2007. Targeting HER proteins in cancer therapy and the role of the non-target HER3. Br J Cancer. 97:453-7.
- Huang, C., K. Jacobson, and M.D. Schaller. 2004. MAP kinases and cell migration. J Cell Sci. 117:4619-28.
- Huang, S., and D.E. Ingber. 2002. A discrete cell cycle checkpoint in late G(1) that is cytoskeleton-dependent and MAP kinase (Erk)-independent. Exp Cell Res. 275:255-64.
- Hutchinson, J.N., J. Jin, R.D. Cardiff, J.R. Woodgett, and W.J. Muller. 2004. Activation of Akt-1 (PKB-alpha) can accelerate ErbB-2-mediated mammary tumorigenesis but suppresses tumor invasion. Cancer Res. 64:3171-8.
- Hwang, H.C., and B.E. Clurman. 2005. Cyclin E in normal and neoplastic cell cycles. Oncogene. 24:2776-86.
- Iavarone, A., and J. Massague. 1997. Repression of the CDK activator Cdc25A and cell-cycle arrest by cytokine TGF-beta in cells lacking the CDK inhibitor p15. Nature. 387:417-22.
- Inaba, T., H. Matsushime, M. Valentine, M.F. Roussel, C.J. Sherr, and A.T. Look. 1992. Genomic organization, chromosomal localization, and independent expression of human cyclin D genes. Genomics. 13:565-74.
- Jackson, A.L., and P.S. Linsley. 2004. Noise amidst the silence: off-target effects of siRNAs? Trends Genet. 20:521-4.
- Jirstrom, K., M. Stendahl, L. Ryden, A. Kronblad, P.O. Bendahl, O. Stal, and G. Landberg. 2005. Adverse effect of adjuvant tamoxifen in premenopausal breast cancer with cyclin D1 gene amplification. Cancer Res. 65:8009-16.

- Joyce, D., B. Bouzahzah, M. Fu, C. Albanese, M. D'Amico, J. Steer, J.U. Klein, R.J. Lee, J.E. Segall, J.K. Westwick, C.J. Der, and R.G. Pestell. 1999. Integration of Rac-dependent regulation of cyclin D1 transcription through a nuclear factor-kappaB-dependent pathway. J Biol Chem. 274:25245-9.
- Karnoub, A.E., A.B. Dash, A.P. Vo, A. Sullivan, M.W. Brooks, G.W. Bell, A.L. Richardson, K. Polyak, R. Tubo, and R.A. Weinberg. 2007. Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. Nature. 449:557-63.
- Kato, J.Y., M. Matsuoka, D.K. Strom, and C.J. Sherr. 1994. Regulation of cyclin D-dependent kinase 4 (cdk4) by cdk4-activating kinase. Mol Cell Biol. 14:2713-21.
- Kawamura, K., H. Izumi, Z. Ma, R. Ikeda, M. Moriyama, T. Tanaka, T. Nojima, L.S. Levin, K. Fujikawa-Yamamoto, K. Suzuki, and K. Fukasawa. 2004. Induction of centrosome amplification and chromosome instability in human bladder cancer cells by p53 mutation and cyclin E overexpression. Cancer Res. 64:4800-9.
- Kedrin, D., J. van Rheenen, L. Hernandez, J. Condeelis, and J.E. Segall. 2007. Cell motility and cytoskeletal regulation in invasion and metastasis. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. 12:143-52.
- Keyomarsi, K., S.L. Tucker, T.A. Buchholz, M. Callister, Y. Ding, G.N. Hortobagyi, I. Bedrosian, C. Knickerbocker, W. Toyofuku, M. Lowe, T.W. Herliczek, and S.S. Bacus. 2002. Cyclin E and survival in patients with breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 347:1566-75.
- Kodama, A., T. Lechler, and E. Fuchs. 2004. Coordinating cytoskeletal tracks to polarize cellular movements. J Cell Biol. 167:203-7.
- Kovacs, E.M., M. Goodwin, R.G. Ali, A.D. Paterson, and A.S. Yap. 2002. Cadherin-directed actin assembly: E-cadherin physically associates with the Arp2/3 complex to direct actin assembly in nascent adhesive contacts. Curr Biol. 12:379-82.
- Kozar, K., M.A. Ciemerych, V.I. Rebel, H. Shigematsu, A. Zagozdzon, E. Sicinska, Y. Geng, Q. Yu, S. Bhattacharya, R.T. Bronson, K. Akashi, and P. Sicinski. 2004. Mouse development and cell proliferation in the absence of D-cyclins. Cell. 118:477-91.
- Kozar, K., and P. Sicinski. 2005. Cell cycle progression without cyclin D-CDK4 and cyclin D-CDK6 complexes. Cell Cycle. 4:388-91.
- Kuhling, H., P. Alm, H. Olsson, M. Ferno, B. Baldetorp, R. Parwaresch, and P. Rudolph. 2003. Expression of cyclins E, A, and B, and prognosis in lymph node-negative breast cancer. J Pathol. 199:424-31.
- Kumar, V. 2007. Robbins Basic Pathology, 8th edition. Saunders Elsevier, Philadelphia, USA. 743-749 pp.
- Laidlaw, I.J., R.B. Clarke, A. Howell, A.W. Owen, C.S. Potten, and E. Anderson. 1995. The

proliferation of normal human breast tissue implanted into athymic nude mice is stimulated by estrogen but not progesterone. Endocrinology. 136:164-71.

- Lakhani, S.R., M.J. Van De Vijver, J. Jacquemier, T.J. Anderson, P.P. Osin, L. McGuffog, and D.F. Easton. 2002. The pathology of familial breast cancer: predictive value of immunohistochemical markers estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor, HER-2, and p53 in patients with mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2. J Clin Oncol. 20:2310-8.
- Lamb, J., S. Ramaswamy, H.L. Ford, B. Contreras, R.V. Martinez, F.S. Kittrell, C.A. Zahnow, N. Patterson, T.R. Golub, and M.E. Ewen. 2003. A mechanism of cyclin D1 action encoded in the patterns of gene expression in human cancer. Cell. 114:323-34.
- Lauper, N., A.R. Beck, S. Cariou, L. Richman, K. Hofmann, W. Reith, J.M. Slingerland, and B. Amati. 1998. Cyclin E2: a novel CDK2 partner in the late G1 and S phases of the mammalian cell cycle. Oncogene. 17:2637-43.
- Li, Z., C. Wang, G.C. Prendergast, and R.G. Pestell. 2006. Cyclin D1 functions in cell migration. Cell Cycle. 5:2440-2.
- Liang, J., and J.M. Slingerland. 2003. Multiple roles of the PI3K/PKB (Akt) pathway in cell cycle progression. Cell Cycle. 2:339-45.
- Liang, J., J. Zubovitz, T. Petrocelli, R. Kotchetkov, M.K. Connor, K. Han, J.H. Lee, S. Ciarallo, C. Catzavelos, R. Beniston, E. Franssen, and J.M. Slingerland. 2002. PKB/Akt phosphorylates p27, impairs nuclear import of p27 and opposes p27-mediated G1 arrest. Nat Med. 8:1153-60.
- Lin, D.I., O. Barbash, K.G. Kumar, J.D. Weber, J.W. Harper, A.J. Klein-Szanto, A. Rustgi, S.Y. Fuchs, and J.A. Diehl. 2006. Phosphorylation-dependent ubiquitination of cyclin D1 by the SCF(FBX4-alphaB crystallin) complex. Mol Cell. 24:355-66.
- Liu, S., G. Dontu, and M.S. Wicha. 2005. Mammary stem cells, self-renewal pathways, and carcinogenesis. Breast Cancer Res. 7:86-95.
- Liu, Y., J.L. Martindale, M. Gorospe, and N.J. Holbrook. 1996. Regulation of p21WAF1/CIP1 expression through mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. Cancer Res. 56:31-5.
- Loden, M., M. Stighall, N.H. Nielsen, G. Roos, S.O. Emdin, H. Ostlund, and G. Landberg. 2002. The cyclin D1 high and cyclin E high subgroups of breast cancer: separate pathways in tumorogenesis based on pattern of genetic aberrations and inactivation of the pRb node. Oncogene. 21:4680-90.
- Lohez, O.D., C. Reynaud, F. Borel, P.R. Andreassen, and R.L. Margolis. 2003. Arrest of mammalian fibroblasts in G1 in response to actin inhibition is dependent on retinoblastoma pocket proteins but not on p53. J Cell Biol. 161:67-77.

- Lukas, J., J. Bartkova, M. Rohde, M. Strauss, and J. Bartek. 1995. Cyclin D1 is dispensable for G1 control in retinoblastoma gene-deficient cells independently of cdk4 activity. Mol Cell Biol. 15:2600-11.
- Lukas, J., T. Herzinger, K. Hansen, M.C. Moroni, D. Resnitzky, K. Helin, S.I. Reed, and J. Bartek. 1997. Cyclin E-induced S phase without activation of the pRb/E2F pathway. Genes Dev. 11:1479-92.
- Ma, T., B.A. Van Tine, Y. Wei, M.D. Garrett, D. Nelson, P.D. Adams, J. Wang, J. Qin, L.T. Chow, and J.W. Harper. 2000. Cell cycle-regulated phosphorylation of p220(NPAT) by cyclin E/Cdk2 in Cajal bodies promotes histone gene transcription. Genes Dev. 14:2298-313.
- Mailand, N., and J.F. Diffley. 2005. CDKs promote DNA replication origin licensing in human cells by protecting Cdc6 from APC/C-dependent proteolysis. Cell. 122:915-26.
- Malumbres, M., and M. Barbacid. 2001. To cycle or not to cycle: a critical decision in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 1:222-31.
- Malumbres, M., R. Sotillo, D. Santamaria, J. Galan, A. Cerezo, S. Ortega, P. Dubus, and M. Barbacid. 2004. Mammalian cells cycle without the D-type cyclin-dependent kinases Cdk4 and Cdk6. Cell. 118:493-504.
- Mammoto, A., S. Huang, K. Moore, P. Oh, and D.E. Ingber. 2004. Role of RhoA, mDia, and ROCK in cell shape-dependent control of the Skp2-p27kip1 pathway and the G1/S transition. J Biol Chem. 279:26323-30.
- Margadant, C., A. van Opstal, and J. Boonstra. 2007. Focal adhesion signaling and actin stress fibers are dispensable for progression through the ongoing cell cycle. J Cell Sci. 120:66-76.
- Mariani, L., C. Beaudry, W.S. McDonough, D.B. Hoelzinger, T. Demuth, K.R. Ross, T. Berens, S.W. Coons, G. Watts, J.M. Trent, J.S. Wei, A. Giese, and M.E. Berens. 2001. Glioma cell motility is associated with reduced transcription of proapoptotic and proliferation genes: a cDNA microarray analysis. J Neurooncol. 53:161-76.
- Martinez, V., and J.G. Azzopardi. 1979. Invasive lobular carcinoma of the breast: incidence and variants. Histopathology. 3:467-88.
- Matsushime, H., M.E. Ewen, D.K. Strom, J.Y. Kato, S.K. Hanks, M.F. Roussel, and C.J. Sherr. 1992. Identification and properties of an atypical catalytic subunit (p34PSK-J3/cdk4) for mammalian D type G1 cyclins. Cell. 71:323-34.
- McIntosh, G.G., J.J. Anderson, I. Milton, M. Steward, A.H. Parr, M.D. Thomas, J.A. Henry, B. Angus, T.W. Lennard, and C.H. Horne. 1995. Determination of the prognostic value of cyclin D1 overexpression in breast cancer. Oncogene. 11:885-91.

- Meloche, S. 1995. Cell cycle reentry of mammalian fibroblasts is accompanied by the sustained activation of p44mapk and p42mapk isoforms in the G1 phase and their inactivation at the G1/S transition. J Cell Physiol. 163:577-88.
- Meloche, S., and J. Pouyssegur. 2007. The ERK1/2 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway as a master regulator of the G1- to S-phase transition. Oncogene. 26:3227-39.
- Meyerson, M., and E. Harlow. 1994. Identification of G1 kinase activity for cdk6, a novel cyclin D partner. Mol Cell Biol. 14:2077-86.
- Miele, A., C.D. Braastad, W.F. Holmes, P. Mitra, R. Medina, R. Xie, S.K. Zaidi, X. Ye, Y. Wei, J.W. Harper, A.J. van Wijnen, J.L. Stein, and G.S. Stein. 2005. HiNF-P directly links the cyclin E/CDK2/p220NPAT pathway to histone H4 gene regulation at the G1/S phase cell cycle transition. Mol Cell Biol. 25:6140-53.
- Minella, A.C., J. Swanger, E. Bryant, M. Welcker, H. Hwang, and B.E. Clurman. 2002. p53 and p21 form an inducible barrier that protects cells against cyclin E-cdk2 deregulation. Curr Biol. 12:1817-27.
- Moberg, K.H., D.W. Bell, D.C. Wahrer, D.A. Haber, and I.K. Hariharan. 2001. Archipelago regulates Cyclin E levels in Drosophila and is mutated in human cancer cell lines. Nature. 413:311-6.
- Moinfar, F. 2007. Essentials of Diagnostic Breast Pathology. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg. 2-3 pp.
- Musgrove, E.A., C.S. Lee, M.F. Buckley, and R.L. Sutherland. 1994. Cyclin D1 induction in breast cancer cells shortens G1 and is sufficient for cells arrested in G1 to complete the cell cycle. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 91:8022-6.
- Nielsen, N.H., C. Arnerlov, S.O. Emdin, and G. Landberg. 1996. Cyclin E overexpression, a negative prognostic factor in breast cancer with strong correlation to oestrogen receptor status. Br J Cancer. 74:874-80.
- Nielsen, N.H., S.O. Emdin, J. Cajander, and G. Landberg. 1997. Deregulation of cyclin E and D1 in breast cancer is associated with inactivation of the retinoblastoma protein. Oncogene. 14:295-304.
- Ohtani, K., J. DeGregori, and J.R. Nevins. 1995. Regulation of the cyclin E gene by transcription factor E2F1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92:12146-50.
- Ohtsubo, M., and J.M. Roberts. 1993. Cyclin-dependent regulation of G1 in mammalian fibroblasts. Science. 259:1908-12.
- Ohtsubo, M., A.M. Theodoras, J. Schumacher, J.M. Roberts, and M. Pagano. 1995. Human cyclin E, a nuclear protein essential for the G1-to-S phase transition. Mol Cell Biol. 15:2612-24.

- Oktay, M., K.K. Wary, M. Dans, R.B. Birge, and F.G. Giancotti. 1999. Integrin-mediated activation of focal adhesion kinase is required for signaling to Jun NH2-terminal kinase and progression through the G1 phase of the cell cycle. J Cell Biol. 145:1461-9.
- Okuda, M., H.F. Horn, P. Tarapore, Y. Tokuyama, A.G. Smulian, P.K. Chan, E.S. Knudsen, I.A. Hofmann, J.D. Snyder, K.E. Bove, and K. Fukasawa. 2000. Nucleophosmin/B23 is a target of CDK2/cyclin E in centrosome duplication. Cell. 103:127-40.
- Olson, M.F., A. Ashworth, and A. Hall. 1995. An essential role for Rho, Rac, and Cdc42 GTPases in cell cycle progression through G1. Science. 269:1270-2.
- Parisi, T., A.R. Beck, N. Rougier, T. McNeil, L. Lucian, Z. Werb, and B. Amati. 2003. Cyclins E1 and E2 are required for endoreplication in placental trophoblast giant cells. Embo J. 22:4794-803.
- Paterson, M.C., K.D. Dietrich, J. Danyluk, A.H. Paterson, A.W. Lees, N. Jamil, J. Hanson, H. Jenkins, B.E. Krause, W.A. McBlain, and et al. 1991. Correlation between c-erbB-2 amplification and risk of recurrent disease in node-negative breast cancer. Cancer Res. 51:556-67.
- Pearson, G., F. Robinson, T. Beers Gibson, B.E. Xu, M. Karandikar, K. Berman, and M.H. Cobb. 2001. Mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase pathways: regulation and physiological functions. Endocr Rev. 22:153-83.
- Pechoux, C., T. Gudjonsson, L. Ronnov-Jessen, M.J. Bissell, and O.W. Petersen. 1999. Human mammary luminal epithelial cells contain progenitors to myoepithelial cells. Dev Biol. 206:88-99.
- Pedersen, L. 1997. Medullary carcinoma of the breast. APMIS Suppl. 75:1-31.
- Pedersen, L., K. Zedeler, S. Holck, T. Schiodt, and H.T. Mouridsen. 1995. Medullary carcinoma of the breast. Prevalence and prognostic importance of classical risk factors in breast cancer. Eur J Cancer. 31A:2289-95.
- Pelosio, P., M. Barbareschi, E. Bonoldi, A. Marchetti, P. Verderio, O. Caffo, P. Bevilacqua, P. Boracchi, F. Buttitta, R. Barbazza, P. Dalla Palma, and G. Gasparini. 1996. Clinical significance of cyclin D1 expression in patients with node-positive breast carcinoma treated with adjuvant therapy. Ann Oncol. 7:695-703.
- Persengiev, S.P., X. Zhu, and M.R. Green. 2004. Nonspecific, concentration-dependent stimulation and repression of mammalian gene expression by small interfering RNAs (siRNAs). Rna. 10:12-8.
- Porter, P.L., W.E. Barlow, I.T. Yeh, M.G. Lin, X.P. Yuan, E. Donato, G.W. Sledge, C.L. Shapiro, J.N. Ingle, C.M. Haskell, K.S. Albain, J.M. Roberts, R.B. Livingston, and D.F. Hayes. 2006. p27(Kip1) and cyclin E expression and breast cancer survival after treatment with adjuvant chemotherapy. J Natl Cancer Inst. 98:1723-31.

- Porter, P.L., K.E. Malone, P.J. Heagerty, G.M. Alexander, L.A. Gatti, E.J. Firpo, J.R. Daling, and J.M. Roberts. 1997. Expression of cell-cycle regulators p27Kip1 and cyclin E, alone and in combination, correlate with survival in young breast cancer patients. Nat Med. 3:222-5.
- Quelle, D.E., R.A. Ashmun, S.A. Shurtleff, J.Y. Kato, D. Bar-Sagi, M.F. Roussel, and C.J. Sherr. 1993. Overexpression of mouse D-type cyclins accelerates G1 phase in rodent fibroblasts. Genes Dev. 7:1559-71.
- Raftopoulou, M., and A. Hall. 2004. Cell migration: Rho GTPases lead the way. Dev Biol. 265:23-32.
- Reshetnikova, G., R. Barkan, B. Popov, N. Nikolsky, and L.S. Chang. 2000. Disruption of the actin cytoskeleton leads to inhibition of mitogen-induced cyclin E expression, Cdk2 phosphorylation, and nuclear accumulation of the retinoblastoma protein-related p107 protein. Exp Cell Res. 259:35-53.
- Resnitzky, D., M. Gossen, H. Bujard, and S.I. Reed. 1994. Acceleration of the G1/S phase transition by expression of cyclins D1 and E with an inducible system. Mol Cell Biol. 14:1669-79.
- Rudolph, P., H. Kuhling, P. Alm, M. Ferno, B. Baldetorp, H. Olsson, and R. Parwaresch. 2003. Differential prognostic impact of the cyclins E and B in premenopausal and postmenopausal women with lymph node-negative breast cancer. Int J Cancer. 105:674-80.
- Sage, J., G.J. Mulligan, L.D. Attardi, A. Miller, S. Chen, B. Williams, E. Theodorou, and T. Jacks. 2000. Targeted disruption of the three Rb-related genes leads to loss of G(1) control and immortalization. Genes Dev. 14:3037-50.
- Sahai, E., and C.J. Marshall. 2003. Differing modes of tumour cell invasion have distinct requirements for Rho/ROCK signalling and extracellular proteolysis. Nat Cell Biol. 5:711-9.
- Schraml, P., C. Bucher, H. Bissig, A. Nocito, P. Haas, K. Wilber, S. Seelig, J. Kononen, M.J. Mihatsch, S. Dirnhofer, and G. Sauter. 2003. Cyclin E overexpression and amplification in human tumours. J Pathol. 200:375-82.
- Seshadri, R., C.S. Lee, R. Hui, K. McCaul, D.J. Horsfall, and R.L. Sutherland. 1996. Cyclin DI amplification is not associated with reduced overall survival in primary breast cancer but may predict early relapse in patients with features of good prognosis. Clin Cancer Res. 2:1177-84.
- Sheaff, R.J., M. Groudine, M. Gordon, J.M. Roberts, and B.E. Clurman. 1997. Cyclin E-CDK2 is a regulator of p27Kip1. Genes Dev. 11:1464-78.
- Sherr, C.J. 1995. D-type cyclins. Trends Biochem Sci. 20:187-90.

- Sherr, C.J., and J.M. Roberts. 1995. Inhibitors of mammalian G1 cyclin-dependent kinases. Genes Dev. 9:1149-63.
- Sherr, C.J., and J.M. Roberts. 1999. CDK inhibitors: positive and negative regulators of G1phase progression. Genes Dev. 13:1501-12.
- Sherr, C.J., and J.M. Roberts. 2004. Living with or without cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinases. Genes Dev. 18:2699-711.
- Shiomi, T., and Y. Okada. 2003. MT1-MMP and MMP-7 in invasion and metastasis of human cancers. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 22:145-52.
- Sieuwerts, A.M., M.P. Look, M.E. Meijer-van Gelder, M. Timmermans, A.M. Trapman, R.R. Garcia, M. Arnold, A.J. Goedheer, V. de Weerd, H. Portengen, J.G. Klijn, and J.A. Foekens. 2006. Which cyclin E prevails as prognostic marker for breast cancer? Results from a retrospective study involving 635 lymph node-negative breast cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res. 12:3319-28.
- Singer, J.D., M. Gurian-West, B. Clurman, and J.M. Roberts. 1999. Cullin-3 targets cyclin E for ubiquitination and controls S phase in mammalian cells. Genes Dev. 13:2375-87.
- Singletary, S.E., C. Allred, P. Ashley, L.W. Bassett, D. Berry, K.I. Bland, P.I. Borgen, G. Clark, S.B. Edge, D.F. Hayes, L.L. Hughes, R.V. Hutter, M. Morrow, D.L. Page, A. Recht, R.L. Theriault, A. Thor, D.L. Weaver, H.S. Wieand, and F.L. Greene. 2002. Revision of the American Joint Committee on Cancer staging system for breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 20:3628-36.
- Slamon, D.J., W. Godolphin, L.A. Jones, J.A. Holt, S.G. Wong, D.E. Keith, W.J. Levin, S.G. Stuart, J. Udove, A. Ullrich, and et al. 1989. Studies of the HER-2/neu proto-oncogene in human breast and ovarian cancer. Science. 244:707-12.
- Socialstyrelsen. 2007. Cancer Incidence in Sweden 2005. S. Centre for Epidemiology, The National Board of Health and Welfare, editor.
- Sorlie, T., C.M. Perou, R. Tibshirani, T. Aas, S. Geisler, H. Johnsen, T. Hastie, M.B. Eisen, M. van de Rijn, S.S. Jeffrey, T. Thorsen, H. Quist, J.C. Matese, P.O. Brown, D. Botstein, P. Eystein Lonning, and A.L. Borresen-Dale. 2001. Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 98:10869-74.
- Sorlie, T., R. Tibshirani, J. Parker, T. Hastie, J.S. Marron, A. Nobel, S. Deng, H. Johnsen, R. Pesich, S. Geisler, J. Demeter, C.M. Perou, P.E. Lonning, P.O. Brown, A.L. Borresen-Dale, and D. Botstein. 2003. Repeated observation of breast tumor subtypes in independent gene expression data sets. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 100:8418-23.
- Span, P.N., V.C. Tjan-Heijnen, P. Manders, L.V. Beex, and C.G. Sweep. 2003. Cyclin-E is a strong predictor of endocrine therapy failure in human breast cancer. Oncogene.

22:4898-904.

- Spruck, C.H., H. Strohmaier, O. Sangfelt, H.M. Muller, M. Hubalek, E. Muller-Holzner, C. Marth, M. Widschwendter, and S.I. Reed. 2002. hCDC4 gene mutations in endometrial cancer. Cancer Res. 62:4535-9.
- Spruck, C.H., K.A. Won, and S.I. Reed. 1999. Deregulated cyclin E induces chromosome instability. Nature. 401:297-300.
- Stamenkovic, I. 2003. Extracellular matrix remodelling: the role of matrix metalloproteinases. J Pathol. 200:448-64.
- Stendahl, M., A. Kronblad, L. Ryden, S. Emdin, N.O. Bengtsson, and G. Landberg. 2004. Cyclin D1 overexpression is a negative predictive factor for tamoxifen response in postmenopausal breast cancer patients. Br J Cancer. 90:1942-8.
- Stevaux, O., and N.J. Dyson. 2002. A revised picture of the E2F transcriptional network and RB function. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 14:684-91.
- Sundquist, M., S. Thorstenson, L. Brudin, and B. Nordenskjold. 1999. Applying the Nottingham Prognostic Index to a Swedish breast cancer population. South East Swedish Breast Cancer Study Group. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 53:1-8.
- Suzuki, T., K.T. J, R. Ajima, T. Nakamura, Y. Yoshida, and T. Yamamoto. 2002. Phosphorylation of three regulatory serines of Tob by Erk1 and Erk2 is required for Ras-mediated cell proliferation and transformation. Genes Dev. 16:1356-70.
- Svensson, S., K. Nilsson, A. Ringberg, and G. Landberg. 2003. Invade or proliferate? Two contrasting events in malignant behavior governed by p16(INK4a) and an intact Rb pathway illustrated by a model system of basal cell carcinoma. Cancer Res. 63:1737-42.
- Talback, M., M. Stenbeck, M. Rosen, L. Barlow, and B. Glimelius. 2003. Cancer survival in Sweden 1960-1998--developments across four decades. Acta Oncol. 42:637-59.
- Tokunaga, E., E. Oki, K. Nishida, T. Koga, A. Egashira, M. Morita, Y. Kakeji, and Y. Maehara. 2006. Trastuzumab and breast cancer: developments and current status. Int J Clin Oncol. 11:199-208.
- Treinies, I., H.F. Paterson, S. Hooper, R. Wilson, and C.J. Marshall. 1999. Activated MEK stimulates expression of AP-1 components independently of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-kinase) but requires a PI3-kinase signal To stimulate DNA synthesis. Mol Cell Biol. 19:321-9.
- Tsai, L.H., E. Lees, B. Faha, E. Harlow, and K. Riabowol. 1993. The cdk2 kinase is required for the G1-to-S transition in mammalian cells. Oncogene. 8:1593-602.
- Umekita, Y., Y. Ohi, Y. Sagara, and H. Yoshida. 2002. Overexpression of cyclinD1 predicts for poor prognosis in estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer patients. Int J Cancer.

98:415-8.

- Walker, J.L., and R.K. Assoian. 2005. Integrin-dependent signal transduction regulating cyclin D1 expression and G1 phase cell cycle progression. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 24:383-93.
- van 't Veer, L.J., H. Dai, M.J. van de Vijver, Y.D. He, A.A. Hart, M. Mao, H.L. Peterse, K. van der Kooy, M.J. Marton, A.T. Witteveen, G.J. Schreiber, R.M. Kerkhoven, C. Roberts, P.S. Linsley, R. Bernards, and S.H. Friend. 2002. Gene expression profiling predicts clinical outcome of breast cancer. Nature. 415:530-6.
- van de Vijver, M.J., Y.D. He, L.J. van't Veer, H. Dai, A.A. Hart, D.W. Voskuil, G.J. Schreiber, J.L. Peterse, C. Roberts, M.J. Marton, M. Parrish, D. Atsma, A. Witteveen, A. Glas, L. Delahaye, T. van der Velde, H. Bartelink, S. Rodenhuis, E.T. Rutgers, S.H. Friend, and R. Bernards. 2002. A gene-expression signature as a predictor of survival in breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 347:1999-2009.
- van Diest, P.J., R.J. Michalides, L. Jannink, P. van der Valk, H.L. Peterse, J.S. de Jong, C.J. Meijer, and J.P. Baak. 1997. Cyclin D1 expression in invasive breast cancer. Correlations and prognostic value. Am J Pathol. 150:705-11.
- Wang, D., J.R. Grammer, C.S. Cobbs, J.E. Stewart, Jr., Z. Liu, R. Rhoden, T.P. Hecker, Q. Ding, and C.L. Gladson. 2000. p125 focal adhesion kinase promotes malignant astrocytoma cell proliferation in vivo. J Cell Sci. 113 Pt 23:4221-30.
- Wang, T.C., R.D. Cardiff, L. Zukerberg, E. Lees, A. Arnold, and E.V. Schmidt. 1994. Mammary hyperplasia and carcinoma in MMTV-cyclin D1 transgenic mice. Nature. 369:669-71.
- Wang, W., J.B. Wyckoff, S. Goswami, Y. Wang, M. Sidani, J.E. Segall, and J.S. Condeelis. 2007. Coordinated regulation of pathways for enhanced cell motility and chemotaxis is conserved in rat and mouse mammary tumors. Cancer Res. 67:3505-11.
- Vasioukhin, V., C. Bauer, M. Yin, and E. Fuchs. 2000. Directed actin polymerization is the driving force for epithelial cell-cell adhesion. Cell. 100:209-19.
- Weinberg, R. 2007. The biology of cancer. Garland Science, Taylor & Francis Group, LLC, New York. 255-306 pp.
- Welcker, M., J. Singer, K.R. Loeb, J. Grim, A. Bloecher, M. Gurien-West, B.E. Clurman, and J.M. Roberts. 2003. Multisite phosphorylation by Cdk2 and GSK3 controls cyclin E degradation. Mol Cell. 12:381-92.
- WHO. 2006. Cancer. WHO Media Centre.
- Wilkinson, S., H.F. Paterson, and C.J. Marshall. 2005. Cdc42-MRCK and Rho-ROCK signalling cooperate in myosin phosphorylation and cell invasion. Nat Cell Biol. 7:255-61.

References

- Wolf, K., I. Mazo, H. Leung, K. Engelke, U.H. von Andrian, E.I. Deryugina, A.Y. Strongin, E.B. Brocker, and P. Friedl. 2003. Compensation mechanism in tumor cell migration: mesenchymal-amoeboid transition after blocking of pericellular proteolysis. J Cell Biol. 160:267-77.
- Woodgett, J.R. 2005. Recent advances in the protein kinase B signaling pathway. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 17:150-7.
- Wullschleger, S., R. Loewith, and M.N. Hall. 2006. TOR signaling in growth and metabolism. Cell. 124:471-84.
- Wyckoff, J., W. Wang, E.Y. Lin, Y. Wang, F. Pixley, E.R. Stanley, T. Graf, J.W. Pollard, J. Segall, and J. Condeelis. 2004. A paracrine loop between tumor cells and macrophages is required for tumor cell migration in mammary tumors. Cancer Res. 64:7022-9.
- Xiong, Y., J. Menninger, D. Beach, and D.C. Ward. 1992. Molecular cloning and chromosomal mapping of CCND genes encoding human D-type cyclins. Genomics. 13:575-84.
- Yamamoto, T., M. Ebisuya, F. Ashida, K. Okamoto, S. Yonehara, and E. Nishida. 2006. Continuous ERK activation downregulates antiproliferative genes throughout G1 phase to allow cell-cycle progression. Curr Biol. 16:1171-82.
- Yoeli-Lerner, M., and A. Toker. 2006. Akt/PKB signaling in cancer: a function in cell motility and invasion. Cell Cycle. 5:603-5.
- Yoeli-Lerner, M., G.K. Yiu, I. Rabinovitz, P. Erhardt, S. Jauliac, and A. Toker. 2005. Akt blocks breast cancer cell motility and invasion through the transcription factor NFAT. Mol Cell. 20:539-50.
- Yu, Q., Y. Geng, and P. Sicinski. 2001. Specific protection against breast cancers by cyclin D1 ablation. Nature. 411:1017-21.
- Zhao, J., Z.C. Bian, K. Yee, B.P. Chen, S. Chien, and J.L. Guan. 2003. Identification of transcription factor KLF8 as a downstream target of focal adhesion kinase in its regulation of cyclin D1 and cell cycle progression. Mol Cell. 11:1503-15.
- Zhao, J.H., H. Reiske, and J.L. Guan. 1998. Regulation of the cell cycle by focal adhesion kinase. J Cell Biol. 143:1997-2008.
- Zhou, B.P., Y. Liao, W. Xia, B. Spohn, M.H. Lee, and M.C. Hung. 2001. Cytoplasmic localization of p21Cip1/WAF1 by Akt-induced phosphorylation in HER-2/neu-overexpressing cells. Nat Cell Biol. 3:245-52.
- Zukerberg, L.R., W.I. Yang, M. Gadd, A.D. Thor, F.C. Koerner, E.V. Schmidt, and A. Arnold. 1995. Cyclin D1 (PRAD1) protein expression in breast cancer: approximately onethird of infiltrating mammary carcinomas show overexpression of the cyclin D1 oncogene. Mod Pathol. 8:560-7.

References

Zwijsen, R.M., R.S. Buckle, E.M. Hijmans, C.J. Loomans, and R. Bernards. 1998. Ligandindependent recruitment of steroid receptor coactivators to estrogen receptor by cyclin D1. Genes Dev. 12:3488-98.